Executable Process Models

Going the Last Mile with Bonita BPM (Community Edition, Version 7.9)

Joerg Evermann Memorial University of Newfoundland July 2019

Please report errors and omissions, send corrections, or offer ideas to <u>jevermann@mun.ca</u>



The copyright to this document rests with the author. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 Unported License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/ or send a letter to Creative Commons, PO Box 1866, Mountain View, CA 94042, USA.

Table of Contents

Introduction
Bonita BPM
Getting Started
Data Management
Database Access
Organizational Management
Organizational Deployment
Process Model
Pools, Lanes, and Actors
Control Flow
Process Data41
Branching Conditions
Messages
Message Handling
Message Correlations
Script Task Operations
User Interface
Pool User Interface
Runtime Variables
Process Deployment
Process Execution

Introduction

Bonita BPM is an open-source workflow management system. The community edition is free to download and contains both a modelling component (based on Eclipse), called Bonita Studio, and the actual workflow management system, containing the workflow engine, a built-in database for persisting case information and workflow information, a resource service that manages organizational groups, roles and members, and other services and interfaces for external services. The workflow engine is built on a Tomcat web server. The web interface to this component is called the Bonita Portal. Bonita BPM does not offer the full range of BPMN 2.0 symbols and also has some limitations in the way that symbols may be used.

This tutorial will guide you through the entire process of developing a BPMN based workflow application on Bonita. The tutorial is developed using the community edition, Version 7.9. It is assumed that you have already downloaded and installed the software. This tutorial is based on exercise 10.10 in the book "Fundamentals of Business Process Management" by Marlon Dumas, Marcello La Rosa, Jan Mendling and Hajo A. Rijers published by Springer (hereafter called "Fundamentals").

Bonita BPM

Bonita BPM uses a number of concepts and technologies that go beyond those introduced in "Fundamentals". This section will introduce the main ones in order to prepare the reader for the remainder of the tutorial.

Relational database

Bonita BPM uses a relational database to store case information. Throughout the tutorial, we will make use of relational data definitions, show how to access the relational database, and use SQL queries to interact with case data from process activities. While not essential, an understanding of relational databases and SQL enhances reader understanding.

Java & Groovy

The runtime component of Bonita BPM is written in Java and makes heavy use of Groovy, a "variant" of the Java language for scripting, value assignments, conditional expressions, etc. The persistent case data in the relational database is encapsulated in a Java-based persistence layer to run-time access. Run-time case data is accessed by process activities through Java objects and their methods. While not essential, an understanding of Java/Groovy enhances reader understanding.

Web-based User Interface

Bonita BPM uses web-based user interfaces to present user activities with case data, case instantiation forms, and case overview forms to the user. User interfaces are not extensively covered in "Fundamentals" as this is where WfMS differ most. In Bonita BPM, every user activity has an input contract that specifies the case data that is used by the activity. Every user activity has a user interface form associated with it. Bonita BPM provides a web-based interface designer that can create forms automatically from the contract. The form shows JavaScript variables. These are initialized from case data when the form is shown, and return to Bonita BPM when the form is submitted. However, these

data are not automatically written back to case data upon activity completion. While not essential, an understanding of JavaScript and CSS enhances reader understanding.

Operations

All types of activities in Bonita BPM can have operations. Operations are used to instantiate case data objects, delete case data objects, or assign values to attributes of case data objects. The expressions to calculate values for attributes can be based on SQL queries to the database, use methods of existing Java case data objects, or use custom Groovy scripts that have access to all case data objects. Operations are used to write back form inputs to case data objects after user activities complete, but they can be used in other tasks as well, for example, script tasks, to evaluate a custom Groovy script. When creating contracts for user activities, Bonita BPM can automatically create the operations necessary to write back form information to case data.

Pools

Pools in Bonita BPM represent processes, not business parties, as recommended in "Fundamentals". As such, the focus on modelling pools in Bonita is on data management and instantiation of process instances. Case data is specified for each pool and is shared across all lanes in that pool. Pools are instantiated to create workflow instances (cases) when a start event is reached. At that point, case data is initialized, using custom initialization scripts, typically in Groovy, to prepare case data.

Getting Started

When Bonita is first launched, it presents the Bonita Studio with a welcome tab and a new project name "My Project".



Close the welcome tab. Bonita community edition allows only a single project in the workspace. Rename the project:

- ➤ Right-click on the name "My Project" and selecting "Rename...".
- Enter the new name for the project
- ➢ Press "OK".

Renaming the project may take a few moments.

😣 Rename	
Rename project	
LoanApplication	
	Cancel OK

Data Management

Begin by modelling the data perspective of the process. Bonita has a rich data perspective that is based on the relational data model to describe *business objects*. Bonita provides a built-in relational database (based on $H2^1$) and a modelling tool that makes it easy to define the business objects.

This tutorial is based on the data description in exercise 10.9 in "Fundamentals". To make the modelling easier, the tutorial simplifies the data perspective somewhat and describe the following business objects that are also found in Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals"

- LoanApplication
- Applicant
- Property
- CreditReport
- RiskAssessment
- PropertyAppraisal

Begin the data modelling

Select "Development" \rightarrow "Business Data Model" \rightarrow "Define ..." from the menu.

The following dialog lets you define the different business objects.

¹ https://h2database.com/html/main.html

👂 🗊 🛛 Define Business Data Model

Define Business Data Model

Add Business Objects to the list and edit their details in the right pane tabs.

ist of Bu	siness Objects	Select a Busi	ness Object to edit			
Add	Name 🔻	Description				
Delete		Attributes	Unique constraints	Queries Indexes	5	
		Add Up Down	Name	Туре	Multiple	Mandatory
		Delete Details No detai	ls available			
ckage (com.company.model					
					Cancel	Finish

Because Bonita will automatically create Java class definitions for the persisting and retrieving the database contents, it prompts you to define a Java package name for these classes, which defaults to "com.company.model". You do not need to change this.

Click the "Add" button on the left to create a new business object.

The name of the business object defaults to "BusinessObject" which you can change by selecting the name in the list of business objects and overwriting it.

➢ Name you first business object "Applicant".

👂 💷 🛛 Define Business Data Model

Define Business Data Model

Add Business Objects to the list and edit their details in the right pane tabs.

ist of Bu	siness Objects		Applicant Description	The person applyin	a for a loan		
Add	Applicant		Description	The person appryin	ig for a toan.		
Delete			Attributes	Unique constraints	Queries Indexes		
			Add	Name	Туре	Multiple	Mandatory
			Up				
		>	Down				
			Delete				
			Details				
			No detai	ls available			
ckage (com.company.model						
					C	Cancel	Finish

Next, define attributes for the applicant business object. For each attribute,

Press the "Add" button next to the attribute list.

This creates a new attribute, by default the names are numbered consecutively and the data types of attributes are character strings of length 255.

> Click on the attribute name to change it and select an appropriate data type for the attribute.

The following image (next page) shows an example for the applicant business object.

Bonita will create an artificial primary key for each business object called *PersistenceID* (a long data type) and allows versioning of the data definition using the *PersistenceVersion* attribute, which is also automatically created.

To keep things simple, do not normalize the data schema (for example, by defining an Address business object and linking this as current and previous address). Also do not use multiple or mandatory attributes, unique constraints, pre-defined queries and indexes for query performance improvements. These are advanced data management topics beyond the scope of a process-centered tutorial.

💿 🛛 Define Business Data Model Define Business Data Model Add Business Objects to the list and edit their details in the right pane tabs. List of Business Objects Applicant Description The person applying for a loan. Name -Add Applicant Delete Attributes Unique constraints Queries Indexes Multiple Mandatory Add Name Туре STRING Up firstName STRING Down homePhone STRING STRING cellPhone Delete STRING currentStreet currentStreetNumber STRING currentCity STRING currentPostal STRING previousStreet STRING 2 previousStreetNumber STRING previousCity STRING previousPostal STRING previousDuration INTEGER currentEmployer STRING employerStartDate DATE-TIME (NO TIME Z annualSalary FLOAT mainBank STRING Details for name Length \sim 255 Use STRING if you need a unique constraint and/or indexes. Its maximum length depends on your database. For longer strings, choose the type TEXT. Database equivalent: varchar

Exercise 10.9 in "Fundamentals" offers some ideas on attributes for the different business objects.

Cancel

Finish

Package com.company.model

> Define a business object with attributes for each of the business objects listed above.

The following image shows a definition of the risk assessment business object. Of the attributes listed in exercise 10.9 in "Fundamentals", the assessment identifier is not required as Bonita will create an artificial primary key for each business object. Also, the attributes to reference the loan application and credit history report are not required; below, you will make the link from the loan application to the risk assessment, credit history report and other objects.

st of Bu	siness Objects Name	•	RiskAssessm Description	ent A risk assessmen	t for a loan application	on	
Add Delete	Applicant RiskAssessment		Attsibutos		ts Quesies Indexes		
			Add	Name riskWeight	Type INTEGER	Multiple	Mandator
		-	Details fo No detai	r riskWeight Is available			
kage	com.company.model						

The following image shows the definition of the property appraisal business object. Again, omit identifiers and references to other business objects.

 Define Business Data Model Define Business Data Model Add Business Objects to the list and edit their definition 	etails i	n the right p	ane tabs.			6
List of Business Objects Add Name \checkmark Add Applicant Delete RiskAssessment		PropertyApp Description Attributes	An appraisal of a p Unique constraints	roperty that is used Queries Indexes	to secure a lo	ban.
Package com.company.model	>	Add Up Down Delete Details fo No detai	Name propertyType propertyStreet propertyCity propertyPostal marketValue surroundingValue comments or surroundingValue ils available	Type STRING STRING STRING FLOAT FLOAT STRING	Multiple	Mandatory
				(Cancel	Finish

The following image shows the definition of the loan agreement. To simplify the tutorial, omit the digitized copy of the repayment agreement from exercise 10.9 in "Fundamentals". Bonita provides a way to manage documents that is separate from the business object data perspective. Alternatively, a URL to an external file store could be represented by an appropriate attribute.

😣 🗉 🛛 Defi	ine Business Data Model						
Define Bus Add Busin	siness Data Model ess Objects to the list and edit the	eir details	s in the right (oane tabs.			6
Add Delete Package	siness Objects Name Applicant LoanAgreement PropertyAppraisal RiskAssessment		LoanAgree Descriptio Attribute Add Up Down Delete Details f No deta	ment An agreement about Unique constraints (Name conditionsAgreed repaymentAgreed or conditionsAgreed ails available	t a loan with an ap Queries Indexes Type BOOLEAN BOOLEAN	Plicant/custo	mer Mandatory
					(Cancel	Finish

The next image shows the definition of a credit report. This is simplified significantly by omitting normalization of entities such as credit account, credit cards, and by omitting multiple entries of these.

😣 🗊 Def	ine Business Data Model						
Define Bu	siness Data Model						
Add Busin	ess Objects to the list and edit t	heir det	tails in the r	ight pane tabs.			0
List of Bu Add Delete	Name Applicant CreditReport LoanApplication LoanAgreement PropertyAppraisal		CreditRepo Descriptio Attributes Add	rt n A report on the credit hi s Unique constraints Que Name	istory of an app ries Indexes Type	licant Multiple	Mandato
	PropertyAppraisal RiskAssessment	>	Up Down Delete	financialOfficer creditAssessment courtJudgmentInformation bankruptcyInformation creditCardType creditCardBalance creditCardInterest loanApplicationsLast5Yea overDueAccount overDueBalance overDueBalance overDueType overDueInterestRate	STRING STRING TEXT TEXT STRING FLOAT FLOAT STRING FLOAT FLOAT		
Package	com.company.model		Details f Length 255 Use STR maximu For long	or financialOfficer NG if you need a unique co Im length depends on your ger strings, choose the type	✓ onstraint and/o database. e TEXT. Databas	r indexes. It: e equivalen	s t: varchar
					Ca	ancel	Finish

Finally, the following image shows our definition of the loan application. This is also simplified, for example, by omitting detailed address information for the reference and the property.

dd Busin List of Bu	siness Data Model ess Objects to the list and ed siness Objects Name Applicant	it their details	s in the righ LoanApplica Descriptior	t pane tabs. ition An application for a	a loan submitted by	/ an applicar	nt
Delete	CreditReport		Attributor		Quesies Indexes		
	LoanApplication		Attributes	Unique constraints			
	PropertyAppraisal		Add	Name	Туре	Multiple	Mandatory
	RiskAssessment		Up	referenceName	STRING		
			Davia	referenceAddress	STRING		
			Down	referenceRelation	STRING		
			Delete	propertyType	STRING		
				propertyAddress	STRING		
				purchasingPrice	FLOAT		
				loanAmount	FLOAT		
			loanStartDate	DATE ONLY			
				loanYears	INTEGER		
				loanInterestType	STRING		
				submissionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TI		
				revisionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TI		
				status	STRING		
				statusComments	TEXT		
				eliaibility	BOOLEAN		
				loanOfficer	STRING		
				insurancePequired	BOOLEAN		
		Details fo Length 255 Use STRI length d	or referenceName NG if you need a unic epends on your data	Tue constraint and/ base.	or indexes.	Its maximum	
ackage	com.company.model		Forlong	er strings, choose th	e type TEXT. Databa	ase equivale	nt: varchar

You will now implement the connections that tie the various business objects to a particular loan application. You will do this by noting the persistence Id of the applicant, the credit history report, the property appraisal, the risk assessment and the repayment agreement summary in the loan application.

For this, you will extend the business data model of the loan application business objects by five attributes of type long, to hold the persistence Ids of each of the associated business objects. Note the last five attributes of the loan application business object in the following figure (next page).

Attributes	Unique constraints	Queries Indexe	S
Add	Name	Туре	Multiple
Up	referenceName	STRING	
	referenceAddress	STRING	
Down	referenceRelation	STRING	
Delete	propertyType	STRING	
	propertyAddress	STRING	
	purchasingPrice	FLOAT	
	loanAmount	FLOAT	
	loanStartDate	DATE ONLY	
	loanYears	INTEGER	
	loanInterestType	STRING	
	submissionDate	DATE-TIME (NO	
	revisionDate	DATE-TIME (NO	
	status	STRING	
	statusComments	TEXT	
	eligibility	BOOLEAN	
	loanOfficer	STRING	
	insuranceRequired	BOOLEAN	
	applicantId	LONG	
	creditReportId	LONG	
	propertyAppraisalId	LONG	
	riskAssessmentId	LONG	
	loanAgreementId	LONG	

These attributes should never be visible to the user, they should not appear in any user interface form or activity input contract. However, their value will be set whenever a process activity creates a new association between business objects.

- > Create the additional attributes for the loan application business objects as shown in the figure.
- Press the "Finish" button.

Bonita Studio now deploys the business data model to the Bonita workflow server. This creates tables in the relational database system as well as the Java classes for retrieving and persisting the information (DAO, "data access objects"). If you have previously deployed the business data model and have made changes to attribute data types, Bonita may ask if you want to clear the database. This is highly recommended.

Bonita will report when this process is finished:

Business Data Model deployed The Business Data Model has been deployed successfully. △ Open sessions have been closed (portal,applications...). You need to log back in. More details Business Data Model deployment steps: II Pause BPM services (→ closes all open sessions) ✓ Generate Java entities and DAO from model ✓ Create/Update database schema ▶ Resume BPM services Don't show me this message again.

Additionally, the business data model and Java dependencies are added to the project in the Bonita Studio project:

🔁 Project explorer 🛛 EoanApplication Image: A state of the state Business Data Model Java dependencies

Database Access

At any time, you can gain access to the database and query its contents:

Select "Development" → "Business Data Model" → "Browse Data (h2 console) …" from the Bonita Studio menu.

This opens a page in your web browser that lets you interact with the H2 database.



Note the tables corresponding to each business object on the left hand side. You can query the contents of each table with the appropriate SQL statement.

Select the APPLICANT table on the left

The H2 console will create a generic SQL select statement for you.

> Press the "Run" button to execute the query as in the following example.

Note the PERSISTENCEID column that is the artificial primary key.

💦 🤣 🗌 Auto commit 🖓	//0 Max rows: 10	00 ~ 0 0	🔳 🔮 Aut	to complete Nor	mal 🗸 🥐		
jdbc:h2:file:/home/joerg/FreshBo	Run (Ctrl+Enter) Ru	un Selected (Shift+E	nter) Clear SC	QL statement:			
🗄 📃 APPLICANT	SELECT * FROM APP	PLICANT					
E CREDITREPORT							
1 IOANAGREEMENT							
1 PROPERTYAPPRAISAL	SELECT FROM A	PPLICANT;		1			
	PERSISTENCEID	ANNUALSALARY	CELLPHONE	CURRENTCITY	CURRENTEMPLOYER	CURRENTPOSTAL	CURRI
	(no rows, 14 ms)						

Expanding the table name shows all columns, indices, and primary keys defined for the table based on the business object definition. Note the column PERSISTENCEVERSION that is used to version the business objects in the database.

- E APPLICANT
 - E PERSISTENCEID
 - E ANNUALSALARY
 - E CELLPHONE
 - E CURRENTCITY
 - E CURRENTEMPLOYER
 - E CURRENTPOSTAL
 - E CURRENTSTREET
 - E CURRENTSTREETNUMBER
 - EMPLOYERSTARTDATE
 - 🗄 🔋 FIRSTNAME
 - HOMEPHONE
 - 🗄 🔋 MAINBANK
 - 🗄 🔋 NAME
 - 1 PERSISTENCEVERSION
 - E PREVIOUSCITY
 - E PREVIOUSDURATION
 - E PREVIOUSPOSTAL

 - ∃ PREVIOUSSTREETNUMBER
 - □ ↓^a_Z Indexes
 - RIMARY_KEY_2
 - Unique
 - PERSISTENCEID

Organizational Management

Bonita separates the organizational management of the workflow server from actor specifications in the BPMN pools and lanes. Organizations are managed on the workflow server by specifying a set of groups and roles to which individual (human) resources can be assigned. Groups and roles are independent of each other. Each actor specified for a pool or lane is later mapped to these groups and roles.

In our simple example, you can look to Figure 10.12 in "Fundamentals" to guide the definition of organizational resources. You will model the workflow server organization to closely resemble the actors specified for the pools and lanes so that the mapping between them will be easier.

Select "Organization" \rightarrow "Define ..." from the menu.

You can see that the "ACME" organization is predefined. Rather than using this, you will define your own organization.

😣 🗊 Ma	nage organizations	
Manage (organizations	le le
Add, edit	or remove organizations	\mathbf{O}
	Name	Description
Add	ACME (active)	The ACME organization is an example of a typical hierarchy. It can be used for development.
Delete		
		< Back Next > Cancel Finish

- Select the ACME organization, then push the "Delete" button
- Confirm that you want to delete this organization
- > Push the "Add" button to create a new organization.

You can change the default name of "Organization1" by clicking on it and then typing the new name. You can also provide a short description.

Change the name of the organization to "Big Bank"

😣 🗊 Ma	mage organizations								
Manage (Manage organizations								
Add, edit	Add, edit or remove organizations								
	Name	Description							
Add	Big Bank	A bank that provides loans							
Delete									
			< Back	Next >	Cancel	Finish			

➤ Make sure the Big Bank organization is selected, then press the "Next >" button.

The following dialog box allows you to create organizational groups. For this tutorial, create two groups, one of Employees and one of Applicants, who will be interacting and carrying out process activities.

- ➤ Use the "Add group" button to create a new group, then
- > Set its name and display name on the right in the details fields

To keep things simple, you will not work with subgroups for this tutorial.

Organization grou	ganizations ups ps of the current organizatio	'n	6
Add group Add subgroup Delete	Search Applicants Employees	Details Name * Display name Path Description	Employees Employees
		< Back Ne	ext > Cancel Finish

After you have created the two groups,

Press the "Next >" button

to continue with the definition of roles.

😣 🗉 Mar	nage organizati	ons					
Organizat	ion roles						1.5
All availab	ole roles of the c	urrent organizat	ion				0
	Q Search		Details				
Add	Role name	Display name	Description	Name *			
Delete				Display name Description			
				< Back Nex	kt >	Cancel	Finish

You will define four roles, corresponding to the actors for the four lanes in Fig 10.12 in "Fundamentals". For each role,

- > Push the "Add" button to create a new role, then
- > Change its name and display name on the right in the details fields.

😣 🗊 🛛 Ma	nage organizatio	ons				
Organizat All availat	tion roles ble roles of the cu	irrent organizati	ion		6	5
Add Delete	Q Search Role name FinancialOffice LoanOfficer PropertyApprai InsuranceSales	Display name Financial Office Loan Officer Property Appra Insurance Sales	Description An officer of Big An officer of Big Real estate prop Offers and sells	Details Name * Display name Description	FinancialOfficer Financial Officer An officer of Big Bank specializing in financial evaluation	
				Back	ext > Cancel Finish	

You will also define an additional role for all customers that interact with Big Bank, as they also use the workflow system to initiate and revise loan applications.

Create the anonymous customer role as shown below

😣 🗐 Mar	nage organizatio	ons				
Organizati	ion roles					10
All availab	le roles of the cu	rrent organizati	ion			0
Add Delete	Q Search Role name FinancialOfficer InsuranceSales LoanOfficer PropertyApprai AnonymousCus	Display name Financial Office Insurance Sales Loan Officer Property Appra Anonymous Cu	Description An officer of Big Offers and sells An officer of Big Real estate prop All customers	Details Name * Display name Description	AnonymousCustomer Anonymous Customer All customers	
				Back	ext > Cancel	Finish

> Push the "Next >" button to continue to the definition of users

Users represent individuals and their user accounts for the workflow management system. To keep things simple, you will create only two resources, one that represents a customer, and one that represents an employee.

😣 🗈 Manage organizations	
Organization users All available users of the current organization	6
List of users User information management	
Q Search	Details
Add First name Last name Username 🔻	Username * john.doe
Delete	Password *
	Manager 👻
	General Membership * Personal contact
	Title Mr, Ms
	First name John
	Last name Doe
	Job title HR manager, Junior Sales
	< Back Next > Cancel Finish

For each user account,

- Push the "Add" button on the left, then
- > Change the details on the right of the form as appropriate.

The example in the figure on the next page shows the definition of user Jane Doe with user name "jane" and some password.

😣 🗈 Man	age organizati	ons				_	
Organizati All availab	on users le users of the c	urrent organiza	tion				6
List of use	s User informa	ition manageme	nt				
	Q Search			Details			
Add	First name	Last name	Username 🔻	Username *	jane		
Delete	Jane	Doe	jane	Password *	•••••		
				Manager			
				General	Membership *	Personal contact	>
				Title	Aiss	1	
				First name	lane		
				Last name	Doe		
				Job title			51
				< Back N	lext > Ca	ancel Fini	sh

For each user account,

- Select the "Membership" tab in the details, and
- > Assign this user to the appropriate groups and resources that you defined earlier.

You can assign multiple groups and roles to each user. Note that groups and roles are independent. In the following example (next page), Jane Doe is a member of all employees who are also loan officers, a member of all employees who are also financial officers, etc.

😣 🗊 Mar	nage organizatio	ns		
Organizat i All availab	ion users Ile users of the cu	rrent organization		6
List of use	rs User informat	ion management		
	Q Search			Details
Add	First name	Last name	Username 🔻	Username* jane
Delete	Jane	Doe	jane	Password *
				Manager 🔹
				General Membership * Personal contact
				Group /Employees Role LoanOfficer
				Group /Employees 🔻 Role FinancialOfficer 💌 🕱
				Group /Employees 🔻 Role PropertyAppraiser 💌 🕱
				Group /Employees 🔻 Role InsuranceSalesRep 💌 🕱
				Add membership
				< Back Next > Cancel Finish

> Define the customer user account in a similar way and ensure that this account is in the applicants group and customers role.

The following figure shows you what the customer account memberships should look like.

stofuse	Q Search	on management		Details
Add Delete	First name Jane Customer	Last name Doe Customer	Username jane customer	 Username * customer Password * Manager General Membership * Personal contact Professional contact > Group /Applicants • Role AnonymousCustomer • Add membership

Push the "Finish" button to complete the definition of the organizational model on the workflow management server.

In the Bonita Studio, you will see your organization as part of the current project.



Organizational Deployment

The organization, as defined just now, needs to be deployed to the Bonita workflow management server. In Bonita Studio,

▶ select "Organization" \rightarrow "Deploy" from the menu.

😣 🗉 Deploy organization								
Select an organization to deploy								
Select an organization to de	ploy on the local portal as well as the default user logged	0						
		_						
Name 🔻	Description							
Big Bank	A bank that provides loans							
Default username 🛙								
customer								
	Cancel	lov						
	Cancer Dep	ioy						

Select the "Big Bank" organization you have just defined

The default user name is the one that Bonita Studio should use when opening the web portal to the workflow management server. In our case,

Specify "customer" as the default user name

The customer will launch initiate the loan application process by completing and submitting a loan application as the first task.

Bonita will acknowledge successful deployment:



Process Model

To begin describing the process in BPMN, create a new diagram in Bonita Studio.

Select "File" \rightarrow "Create new diagram ..." in the menu.

Once the diagram has been created, you can select it in the project view on the left of Bonita Studio.



You can rename the diagram, as well as the pool(s) in the diagram.

- Select the new diagram and right-click and select "Rename ..." to provide a better name for it.
- > Name the pool "Loan Provisioning".

While Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals" labels the pool after the organizational unit performing the work ("loan provider"), Bonita uses the convention that the pool name designates the process, not the organization, hence you should label it "Loan Provisioning".

6	Choose	a new name and version					
	Diagram						
	Name	LoanApplication					
	Version	1.0					
	Pools						
	Name Loan Provisioning Version 1.0						
		Cancel OK					

The diagram should now show a single pool with a single lane and the beginnings of a process, as in the following image (next page). Note the palette of BPMN symbols to the left of the drawing area.



Pools, Lanes, and Actors

Because we want to model the message passing coordination between the loan application and the loan provisioning processes that is shown in the collaboration diagram in Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals", you will add another pool to the diagram.

- Select the pool symbol in the palette, then
- > Add a new pool above the loan provisioning.

You can name this new pool in the general properties below the drawing area.

🥖 Gener	al 🛿 🛢 Data 🗜 Execution 🔏 Appearance 🥝	Validati	on status 🔍 Minimap	1 2 2
De Pool	1			
Pool	Pool			?
Actors				
	Name 9		Description	
	Pool1]		
	Version			
	1.0			
	Display name 🛚			
	If not set, name will be used			

To rename the pool,

- > Push the button with the pencil icon to enable editing of the pool's name.
- Change the name to "Loan Application".

🥖 Genera	l 🛿 📕 Data 🗜 Execution 🔏 Appearance 🤇	2 Validatio	n status	Q Minimap						
🗆 Loan	Application									
Pool	Pool									
Actors										
	Name 🛚		Descript	ion						
	Loan Application	J								
	Version									
	1.0									
	Display name 🛚									
)								
	If not set, name will be used									

The loan provisioning pool has four lanes, one each for the loan officer, the financial officer, the property appraiser, and the insurance sales rep.

- ➢ Select the "Employee lane" pool, and
- > In the "Lane" tab in the properties pane, rename the lane to "Loan Officer"

🝠 Genera	al 🛙	📕 Data	Execution	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation status	, 🔍 Minimap
🖽 Loan	Offi	сег				
Pool	Lan	e				
Lane Actors		Name	Loan Office	er		
	De	scription				

- Select a new lane from the drawing palette, and
- ➤ Add the new lane below the "Loan Officer" lane.
- Rename the new lane to "Financial Officer".
- > Add lanes for the property appraiser and insurance sales rep in the same way.
- > Add a lane to the Loan Application pool. Label this lane "Applicant".

Next, you will assign actors to each pool and lane. Actors in the BPMN diagram are distinct and separate from the organizational resources you have defined earlier for the workflow server. They will be mapped to these resources when the process is deployed for execution.

> Select the loan provisioning pool and the "Actor" tab in the properties pane.

🝠 Genera	। 🛿 📕 Dat	a 🗜	Execution	🗶 Appearan	ce	오 Validation status	🔍 Minimap	· 🛃	~
🗆 Loan	Provisioni	ng							
Pool	Actors								?
Actors									
	Add		Name	2	•	Description			
	Set as init	iator	Employ	oyee actor		This is an example o	of actor that i	s mapped to any ACME users	
	Delet	e							
			Note: wh	en no initiator	is s	set, the process can o	only be starte	ed programmatically	

A default actor is already entered here.

Select the default "Employee actor", unset it as initiator, and then delete it.

Confirm that you really want to delete this actor. Next,

- ➢ Use the "Add" button to add a new actor,
- Rename the default "Actor1" name by selecting it and replacing it with "Big Bank Employee".
 Do not set this actor as initiator.

Next, you will define actors for each lane within the loan provisioning pool.

- Select the loan officer lane, then
- Select the "Actors" tab in the properties pane and press the "Add ..." button
- > In the following dialog box, enter the name "Loan Officer" and press finish.

📝 Genera	al 🖾	📕 Dat	a 🗜	Execut	K	Appear	0	Validat	2	Minimap		
												▽
🖽 Loan	Offi	сег										
Pool	Act	ors									C	?)
Lane Actors	Sele	ect an a	ctor							▼ Ad	d	
		Actor f	ilter	Set					E	dit	Þ	

😣 🗊 New a	😣 🗊 New actor									
Add a new a	Add a new actor 60									
Name * Description	Loan Officer									
Initiator	Set as initiator									
	Cancel Finish									

- > Create new actors for the remaining three lanes in the same way.
- Create a new actor for the loan application pool in the same way.

The actor of the loan application pool will manually initiates the process of applying for a loan. In contrast, the loan provisioning actors react only to inbound application messages. They should not be able to instantiate the loan provisioning actors manually.

Set this actor as initiator

🍠 Genera	🛿 🛢 Data 🗜	Execution	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation status	🔍 Minimap				
🗆 Applic	ant								
Pool	Actors								
Actors									
			lama				Description		
	Add		oplicant			•	Description		
	Unset initiator		,p p						
	Delete]							
		Note: wh	en no initiator is	set, the process can o	only be started	d programmatical	ly		

You must also specify an actor for the Applicant lane in the loan application pool. Select this lane. Instead of creating a new actor,

> Use the drop-down list to select the "Applicant" actor defined for the loan application pool.

🥖 Gener	al 🛛 📕 Data 🗜	Execution 🔏 Appearance 🥥 Validation status 🔍 Minimap		▽	- 0
🖽 Appli	cant				
Pool	Actors				?
Lane Actors	Select an actor	Applicant	•	Add	
	Actor filter	Set	Edit		2

Control Flow

Next, you will model the process, staying close to Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals".

Examining that figure, you will notice that Bonita does not offer symbols for data objects and data stores. These can still be added to each task, as you will see later, but are not represented graphically. Also, when modelling the messages in the collaboration with the applicant pool, Bonita requires these message connections to originate or terminate at a message event or message task, rather than at the edge of an opaque ("black") pool as in "Fundamentals". Note also that message connections cannot be drawn graphically, but are added automatically by Bonita once the message details have been specified.

Begin with the basic BPMN elements for the loan officer.

➢ Model the following process fragment in the Loan Officer lane



Explanation: Because Bonita does not allow using timer events as boundary events on message receive tasks, as is done in Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals", you will use a sub-process, which is called *Call Action* in Bonita, for the activity "Receive updated application". You will place the message receiving activity into that sub-process. An interrupting timer event can be added to the call action.

 Continue modelling the process for the financial officer and property appraisers as shown in the following diagram (next page)



Explanation: Use a script task, instead of a service task, for the activity "Assess Loan Risk", as our executable process in this tutorial will not have access to an actual credit rating service.

Continue modelling the next parts of the process for the loan officer and the insurance sales rep, as shown in the following diagram (next page)



Model the remainder of the process for the loan officer, as shown in the following diagram (next page)



Explanation: In contrast to Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals", this model contains only one terminating event "Loan application cancelled" to which the "5 day" boundary timer event, the "2 weeks" boundary timer event, and the "Notify cancellation" sending activity are connected. This is because the Bonita does not allow multiple events with the same name.

At this point, you will notice that many of the elements are labelled with a red 'x' symbol, indicating that there are errors in the diagram. You can find out more about these errors in the "Validation Status" tab of the properties pane below the diagram. You may need to refresh this view to show the most current information.

General	📕 Data 🗜 Execution 🗶 Appearance 🔮 Validation statu	S 🛱 🔍 Minimap
Refresh		
Severity	▼ Element	Description
i	Applicant	You may be missing a start event
i	Receive updated application	The process to call is an expression or has not been found
۵	Loan Provider	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for instantiation form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONL
۵	Loan Provider	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for overview page mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Applicant	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for instantiation form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONL
۵	Applicant	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for overview page mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Assess Eligibility	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Prepare acceptance pack	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Verify repayment agreement	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Cancel application	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Approve application	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۸	Check Credit History	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Appraise Property	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
۵	Send home insurance quote	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for entry form mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONLY.
0	Loan Application Received	The event must catch a message
0	Is form complete?	All output transitions from a XOR gateway must be default or conditional. If you want to continue on several branches, use an inclusive gateway.
0	Return application to applicant	No message defined for Return application to applicant
0	Receive updated application	No process to call defined for call activity Receive updated application
8	5 days	The timer must have its condition set
0	is applicant eligible?	All output transitions from a XOR gateway must be default or conditional. If you want to continue on several branches, use an inclusive gateway.
0	Reject application	No message defined for Reject application
8	2 weeks	The timer must have its condition set
0	does applicant agree?	All output transitions from a XOR gateway must be default or conditional. If you want to continue on several branches, use an inclusive gateway.
8	Notify cancellation	No message defined for Notify cancellation
0	Notify approval	No message defined for Notify approval

You will now attend to each of these problem issues in turn.
First, for each of the three branching exclusive (XOR) gateways, name the flows and indicate the default flow. To do this,

- Select the default flow from each gateway.
- > In the properties pane, provide a name and indicate that it is the default flow.

🝠 General	x	Data	ŧ	Execution	R /	Appearance	0	Validation s	tatus	🔍 Minimap	
→ Form o	→ Form complete										
General	Gen	eral									
		Nam	e	Form com	plete	e					
			-		pree	-					
	Des	criptio	n								
				🕑 Default	flow	v					

> Do this for all flows from branching exclusive (XOR) gateways.

Your changes should be reflected in the diagram by showing the labels as well as the indications for default flows.

Next, you will specify the two timer events in the model.

- Select the "5 days" timer event.
- > In the properties pane, push the "Edit ..." button to specify the timer.

In the following dialog window,

- Select "Duration" for the type of timer, enter "5" for the number of days, and push the button "Generate duration expression" to generate the timer condition.
- Push the "Finish" button.

😣 🗈 Edit timer condition	
Edit timer condition	1.
Define a timer condition based on a fixed date or a duration. Cycle and duration evaluation will starts when the process is enabled.	0
Timer condition based on a 🔘 Fixed date 📀 Duration	
Select a duration	
Years 0 - + Days 5 - + Hours 0 - + Seconds 0 - <th< td=""><td>• +</td></th<>	• +
Generate duration expression	
Timer Condition i S Days 00:00:00	.] 🧷
Cancel	inish

▶ Repeat this for the "2 week" timer, using 14 days as the duration.

To specify the details of messages, you need to explicitly model those activities of the applicant that the applicant will complete on the workflow management system itself. While in a production environment, these messages may be sent from external systems to start a process instance, for this tutorial you should assume that applicants create and revise loan applications also on the workflow management system. Recall that you have created a customer/applicant user account for this purpose.

The applicant initiates the process by submitting a loan application, and may be requested to revise or edit loan applications to be resubmitted. The applicant also receives rejection, cancellation, and approval messages.

- Revise application Γ Incomplete application returned Revised application submitted Loan Application Applicant 2 Create Loan Application Start1 Application submitted 6 × 0 Application rejection received End1 Application approval received End3 0 Application cancellation received End2
- > Model the following process for the loan application pool.

You do not need to provide any further details on the activities of the applicant, as the focus is on the loan provisioning process.

Next, you will specify the details of the call activity "Receive updated application" by creating another process pool. Bonita will not properly create message connections between pools in separate diagrams, hence you will create this sub-process pool in the same diagram.

- Select the pool symbol from the drawing symbol palette to the left of the drawing area.
- > Create another pool below the loan provisioning pool.
- > Rename the pool to "Receive updated application (sub-process)".

🕖 Genera	l 😫 🛢 Data 🗜 Execution 🗶 Appearance 오 Validation status 🔍 Minimap
🗆 Recei	ve updated application (sub-process)
Pool	Pool
Actors	
	Name Description
	Receive updated application (sub-process)
	Version
	1.0
	Display name 🛚
	If not set, name will be used

- Select the "Actors" tab in the properties pane below the diagram.
- > Add a new actor to the pool, named "Big bank employee (sub-rpcoess)".

🕖 Genera	। 🛛 📕 Data 🖡	Execution	∦ Appearance	🥝 Validation status	🔍 Minimap		
🗆 Recei	Receive updated application (sub-process)						
Pool	Pool Actors						
Actors							
	Add	Na	ime			 Description 	
	Set as initiato	Big) bank employee	(sub-process)			
		3					
	Delete						
		Note: wh	en no initiator is	set, the process can o	only be started	programmatically	

Next, use the lane symbol from the drawing symbol palette and

- ➤ Create a single lane within this pool.
- > Name this lane "Loan Officer", as in the following figure (next page).

🖋 Genera	al 🛛 📕 Data	Execution	∦ Appearance	오 Validation status	Q Minimap	
🎟 Loan	Officer					
Pool	Lane					
Lane			1			
Actors	Name	Loan Office	r			
	Description					

➤ Model the following sub-process for the loan officer.



Explanation: Beginning the sub-process with a message start activity does not work in this case. In Bonita, a sub-process with a message start event will be skipped instead of waiting for the message. Hence, the sub-process must begin with a regular start event so it is instantiated by the parent process's call activity. It must then await the message arrival using the intermediate message event.

Explanation: Note also that in Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals", the task "receive update application" is a message task. Instead, the sub-process simply uses a message event as nothing else needs to be done other than await the message arrival.

- Select the call activity "Receive updated application" in the loan provisioning pool.
- > Select the "Process to call" tab in the properties pane below the diagram.
- > From the drop-down list for the name, select "Receive update application (sub-process)".

You may leave the version blank in order that the latest version of the process definition will be used when the sub-process is instantiated. Your sub-process definition should look as in the following figure (next page).

🍠 General 🛿 📒	Data 🗜 Execution 🗶 Appearance 🛇 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						
Receive updated application							
General	Process to call						
Portal							
Process to call							
Iteration	Version i						

Process Data

It is useful to specify the data for each pool before specifying messages, because message sending activities or events will assemble message content from this data, and message receiving activities or events will populate this data from message content.

Select the loan application pool, then select the "Data" tab in the properties pane.

As applicants will work with loan applications and applicant information, you will create two business variables. Additionally, you will create business variables that hold the loan application ID and the applicant ID.

- Select the "Add..." button for business variables.
- In the following dialog window, enter "loanApplication" for the name of the variable, and select the "LoanApplication" business object from the drop-down list.
- ➢ Do <u>not</u> enter a default value

😣 🗈 New busine:	ss variable
Add a new Busine	ss variable to Loan Application
Create a new refer	ence to a Business Object defined in Development > Business Data Model menu
Name *	loanApplication
Description	
Business Object *	LoanApplication Create a new Business Object Is multiple
Default value	i 🖉 🗸 🧷
	Cancel Finish

Explanation: There is no need to instantiate or set an default/initial value for the loan application variable at the pool level. Instantiation and initialization is done by the task "Create loan application". Also, there are many start events in this pool. Each time a start event occurs, a new instance of the pool's process and data is created, which would create another instance of the loan application object. You avoid this by passing the loan application into the new instance as message content.

- > Complete this definition by pushing the "Finish" button.
- Repeat this procedure to define a business variable for the applicant data. Do not define a default/initial value or instantiation for this variable either.

Next, add two process variables that contain the loan application ID and the applicant ID.

Use the "Add..." button for the process variables to create these. Both of these should have the long data type, as shown in the following figure

😣 🗈 New variable					
Add a new vari	able to Applicant				
Add a new varia	ble O				
Name *	loanApplicationID				
Description					
Data type	i Long List of options				
	Additional information				
Default value	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	🗌 Is multiple i				
	Finish & Add Cancel Finish				

Explanation: The main distinction in Bonita between business and process variables is that of persistence. Business variables are persisted beyond the execution of the workflow instance, while process variables are not. Moreover, as you have noticed when creating these variables, business variables represent business objects defined earlier (for which database tables are created) while process variables use Java data types and have no corresponding database tables.

Explanation: Bonita Community 7.9 does not send complex business objects as message content. You will circumvent this problem by sending the *PersistenceId* of the business object instead, whereupon the complete object can be read from the database after the message has been received. The *persistenceIds* of the applicant and loan application object are represented as process variables as they will become part of the message content of outgoing messages. If it were only for sending messages, you could omit the process variables and retrieve the values directly from the business objects. However, more importantly, the process variables will be used to receive message content from incoming messages.

When done, your data definitions for the loan application pool should look as follows:

🖋 General 📳 Da	ata 🛿 🗜 Execution 🗚 Appearance 🛇 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	~ •	- [Ξ
🗆 Loan Applic	ation			
Pool variables	Pool variables		?)
Documents	Business variables i Process variables i			
Parameters	Add ⓐ applicant – com.company.model.Applicant Add ⓑ applicantId – Long Edit ⓑ loanApplication – com.company.model.LoanA Edit Edit Remove Move Move			

You will also need to model data for the loan provisioning pool. The loan provider also works with applicant and loan application data, so this pool requires the same business and process variables as the applicant pool. Additionally, you know from Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals" that the loan provider also works with a risk assessment data object, an agreement summary data object, a credit report data object, and a property appraisal data object. As these data objects do not need to be transferred by message passing from or to another pool, you do not require process variables to hold their identifiers.

Create business and process variables for the loan provisioning pool using the same procedure as above.

Again, you do not need to provide default/initial value expressions or instantiation.

When done, the business variables for the loan provisioning pool should look as in the following figure. Additionally, you should have the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId* as for the loan application pool.

🥖 General 📕 Da	ata 🛱 🖡 Execution 🗶 Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						
🗆 Loan Provis	🗆 Loan Provisioning						
Pool variables	Pool variables						
Documents	Business variables i						
Parameters	Add i agreementSummary – com.company.model.LoanAgreement i applicant – com.company.model.Applicant i creditReport – com.company.model.CreditReport i loanApplication – com.company.model.LoanApplication i propertyAppraisal – com.company.model.PropertyAppraisal i riskAssessment – com.company.model.RiskAssessment						

You also need to model data for the loan provider (sub-process) pool. The activity in this pool requires access to the loan application and the applicant data.

> Model this data in the same way as you have done for the applicant pool.

Your data definitions for the loan provider (sub-process) pool should look as follows:

🖋 General 📳 Da	ta 🛱 🖡 Execution 🗶 Appearance 오 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	₫ ▽ □ □
🗆 Receive upo	lated application (sub-process)	
Pool variables	Pool variables	?
Documents	Business variables i Process variables i	
Parameters	Add ⓐ applicant – com.company.model.Applicant ⓐ loanApplication – com.company.model.LoanA ⓑ loanApplicationId – Long ⓑ loanApplicatind – Long ⓑ loanApplicatind – Long	

Next, note that the decisions for the exclusive (XOR) branching gateways require decision information. There are three such gateways in the process model. The first checks whether the form is complete, the second whether applicant is eligible and the third whether the applicant agrees with the repayment plan.

While the decisions can be based on data in the business variables, the model in Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals" contains explicit tasks to create this information ("check application form completeness", "assess eligibility", and "verify repayment agreement"). Therefore, you will model three boolean (true/false) variables that capture this information as <u>process variables for the loan provisioning pool</u>. The following image shows the dialog box for defining one of these variables.

Define all three variables in the same way.

😣 🗉 🛛 New varia	able						
Add a new varia	Add a new variable to Loan Provider						
Add a new varia	ble						
Name *	isFormComplete						
Description							
Data type	i Boolean						
Default value	False ▼ ✔ Is multiple i						
	Finish & Add Cancel Finish						

When done, your data definitions for the pool should like as follows. Note that the process variables also include the loan application identifier and the applicant identifier you have defined to be used for message passing.

🖋 General 📕 Da	ta 🛿 🗜 Execution 🔏 Appearance 오 Validation :	tatus 🔍 Minimap				~ '	- 0
🗆 Loan Provis	ioning						
Pool variables	Pool variables						?
Documents Parameters	Business variables i Add agreementSummary – com.company applicant – com.company.model.Ap	.model.LoanAgreemo plicant	ent Add	Process variables i applicantId - Long doesApplicantAgree - Boolean - Default value:	true		
	Edit Remove I control contr	CreditReport del.LoanApplication nodel.PropertyApprai del.RiskAssessment	isal Edit Remove Move	 isApplicantEligible – Boolean – Default value: fail isFormComplete – Boolean – Default value: fails loanApplicationId – Long 	lse		

Finally, add business variables and process variables to the "Receive updated application (subprocess)" pool. This sub-process works with the applicant and loan application information, so you model these as business variables. As above, you do not need to provide instantiation and initial value expressions. You also model the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId* as process variables of type long. Note that you do not need to provide initial values for the the applicant and loan application. The process pool will receive these from the inbound message.

Create data definitions for the sub-process pool to look as follows:



Branching Conditions

With the pool data, in particular the process variables, defined, you can specify the flow conditions from each of the branching exclusive (XOR) gateways. Select a non-default (conditional) flow. The properties pane below the diagram allows you to enter a condition expression that determines when the process will follow this flow.



- \blacktriangleright Use the pencil icon to edit the expression.
- In the following dialog box (next page), select "Variable" in the list of expression types on the left. Select one of the three boolean process variables you have just created, but do <u>not</u> push the "OK" button yet.

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ssion		
Expression type Comparison Constant Java Parameters Script Variable	Name doesApplicantAgree – Boolean isApplicantEligible – Boolean isFormComplete – Boolean		•
	Add	Return type	java.lang.Boolean Cancel OK

Select the "Comparison" expression type in the list on the left.

You should see the boolean variable you have selected is now entered.

Change the comparison expression by adding an exclamation mark ("!") before the variable name (as this is the flow that we wish to follow when the form is NOT complete).

😣 💷 🛛 Edit expre	ssion						
Expression type	Press Ctrl+space to access the autocomplete feature.						
🖫 Comparison	Supported operators (!,==,!=,<,>,<=,>=) for variable, parameter, constant.						
 <i>π</i> Constant <i>y</i> Java <i>y</i> Parameters <i>β</i> Script <i>y</i> Variable 	!isFormComplete						
Valiable	Automatic dependencies resolution						
	Return type java.lang.Boolean						
	Cancel OK						

> Push the "OK" button.

Your expression should be reflected in the properties pane for this flow:

🕑 Genera	। 🛛 📕 Data 퉞	Execution	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation s	tatus 🔍 Minimap
→ Form	incomplete				
General	General				
	Name	Form inco	mplete		
	Description				
	Condition	Default Use exp i [lisForm(flow ression OUse Complete	decision table]]

Do the same for the conditional (non-default) flows from the other two branching exclusive (XOR) gateways.

Messages

Now that you have specified business and process variables for all pools, you can define messages and their contents. You will begin with the message that is sent from the loan application pool to the loan provisioning pool to initiate the loan provisioning.

- > Select the end event "Application submitted" in the loan application pool.
- Select the "Messages" tab in the "General" properties pane.

This is where you will define the message that is being sent at this event:

🍠 General 🛛	🛢 Data 🗜 B	Execution	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation status	S 🔍 Minimap
Applicat	ion submitte	ed			
General	Messages				
Portal					
Messages	Add	type fill	ter text		
	Edit				
	Remove				

> Push the "Add ..." button to define a new message.

- Specify "Loan Application (initial)" for the message name.
- Select "Loan Provisioning" as the target pool from the drop-down list.
- Select "Loan Application Received" as the target element from the drop-down list.

You will need to transfer the *loanApplicationId* and the *applicantId* as message content.

- > Push the "Add" button in the message content pane.
- Enter "loanApplicationId" as the content item.
- Select the value field and begin typing "loanApplication". Bonita will present you with suggestions that match what you have typed. Select the *loanApplicationId* process variable from the list of suggestions.
- > Do the same for the applicant ID. Your message definition should look as follows:

😣 🗉 🛛 Add Me	ssage					
Add Message		1.0				
A message is so Add data here	ent to another pool. to transfer for use in the target pool	0				
Name	Name * LoanApplication (initial)					
Description	n					
Target pool	* i Loan Provisioning					
Target element	* i Loan Application Received					
Message conte	ent Correlation between instances					
You can leave To select spec	e message content empty to synchron cific instances, use "Correlation betw	nize instances between two processes. veen instances tab".				
	Content item	Value				
Add	oanApplicationId	loanApplicationId				
Remove	applicantId	🧵 applicantId				
		Cancel Finish				

Press the "Finish" button.

Your message should now be reflected in the process diagram by a message flow between the two events.



Next, you will define the message that is sent from the "Revised application submitted" end event in the loan application pool.

> Define the message as in the following figure (next page).

😣 🗉 🛛 Add Messa	ge	
Add Message		
A message is sent Add data here to	t to another pool. transfer for use in the target pool	0
Name *	Loan Application (revised)	
Description		
Target pool *	i Receive updated application (s	sub-process) 🔹 🖌 🧷
Target element *	i Revised loan application receiv	ved 🔹 🖌 🧷
Message content	Correlation between instances	
You can leave m To select specifi	essage content empty to synchror c instances, use "Correlation betw	nize instances between two processes. een instances tab".
Co	ntent item	Value
Add la Remove a	oanApplicationId applicantId	loanApplicationId applicantId
		Cancel Finish

Next, define the message that is being sent from the message activity "Return application to applicant".

Define this message as follows

😣 🗈 Add Message							
Add Message	1.						
A message is sent to another pool. Add data here to transfer for use in the target pool							
Name * Loan Application (incomple	ete)						
Description							
Target pool * i Loan Application	• J 🖉						
Target element * i Incomplete application returned							
Message content Correlation between insta	nces						
You can leave message content empty to syn To select specific instances, use "Correlation	chronize instances between two processes. between instances tab".						
Content item	Value						
Add loanApplicationId	loanApplicationId						
Remove applicantId	🧵 applicantId						
	Cancel Finish						

> Define the message sent from the message sending activity "Reject application" as follows:

😣 🗈 🛛 Add Messa	age								
Add Message	Add Message								
A message is sent to another pool. Add data here to transfer for use in the target pool									
Name *									
Description									
Target pool *	i Loan Application	✔ J (2						
Target element *	i Application rejection received	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2						
Message content	t Correlation between instances								
You can leave m To select specifi	nessage content empty to synchror ic instances, use "Correlation betw	nize instances between two processes reen instances tab".	5.						
Co	ontentitem	Value							
Add l Remove	loanApplicationId applicantId	loanApplicationIdapplicantId							
		Cancel Finish)						

> Define the message from the message sending activity "Notify cancellation" as follows:

😣 🗊 🛛 Add M	essage						
Add Message	•						
A message is sent to another pool. Add data here to transfer for use in the target pool							
Nam	Name* Loan Application (cancelled)						
Descripti	Description						
Target pool * i Loan Application							
Target elemen	t* i Application cancellation receiv	ved 🔹 🖌 🧷					
Message con	tent Correlation between instances						
You can leav To select sp	ve message content empty to synchror ecific instances, use "Correlation betw	nize instances between two processes. een instances tab".					
	Content item	Value					
Add	loanApplicationId	🔋 loanApplicationId					
Remove	applicantId	🚺 applicantId					
		Cancel Finish					

Finally, define the message sent form the message sending activity "Notify approval" as follows:

😣 🗊 🛛 Add Me	essage						
Add Message							
A message is sent to another pool. Add data here to transfer for use in the target pool							
Name	e * Loan Application (approved)						
Descriptio							
Target poo	l* i Loan Application						
Target elemen	t* i Application approval received						
Message cont	tent Correlation between instances						
You can leav To select spe	ve message content empty to synchror ecific instances, use "Correlation betw	nize instances between two processes. een instances tab".					
	Content item	Value					
Add	loanApplicationId	loanApplicationId					
Remove	applicantid	🚺 applicantId					
		Cancel Finish					

Message Handling

You have specified the messages that are being sent. You must now specify what happens when messages are received. First, upon receipt of a message, you must specify what happens to the message content. Second, because our messages do not transfer complete business objects, you must add activities that restore/read the business object from the database, given its identifier. You will begin with the "Loan Application Received" event in the loan provisioning pool.

Select the "Loan Application Received" message event, then select the message content pane in the general tab of the properties panel:

🍠 General 🛿	🛢 Dal	ta 🗜 Execution	∦ Appearance	Validation status	🔍 Minimap			
🖻 Loan App	Loan Application Received							
General		Message co	ntent					
Portal								
Message content		Auto-fill						
		Add						

> Push the "Auto-fill" button.

Bonita will attempt to map message content to business or process variables based on names and datatypes. As you have named your message content elements the same as your process variables, this

automatic mapping works for you. In other cases, use the "Add" button to manually create these mappings. The generated mappings should look as follows:

🍠 General 🏼 📒 Dat	a 🗜 Execution 🔣 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap					~ -	- 0
🖻 Loan Applicatio	n Received						
General	Message content						?
Portal							
Message content	Auto-fill						
	🗘 loanApplicationId	📄 🔋 🔹 🧷 Takes value of	loanApplicationId] ⊠ ▼] 🧷	×	
	applicantId	🗌 🛡 🥒 🛛 Takes value of	applicantId] 🧷	×	
	Add						

Next, you will need to read/restore the full business object of applicant and loan application after receipt of the message.

> Insert a script task named "Read information" after the message start event, as follows:.



Select this task, then select the "Execution" tab in the properties pane, then select the "Operations" pane:



Operations in Bonita are data variable assignments that are carried out after a task has completed execution. In this case, you will specify how to restore the applicant and loan application business objects.

- Push the "Add" button.
- Select the "Applicant" business variable as the target of the operation.
- Select the edit button (pencil icon) for the expression on the right.

You should see the following dialog window:

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ssion	
Expression type T Constant Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Value	
	Return type	
	java.lang.String 🔹	
	Cancel OK	

Select "Query" for the expression type on the left.

Bonita will automatically propose a database query to read the applicant information from the database based on its *persistenceId*.

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ssion				
Expression type π Constant	Select the Business Object and the corresponding query to execute. Set the value for each parameter required by the query.				
👲 Java	Business Object Queries				
Parameters	Applicant findByPersistenceId				
📲 Query	Cuerusentent				
🔊 Script	Query content				
🚺 Variable	SELECT a FROM Applicant a WHERE a.persistenceId=:persistenceId				
	Parameters				
	Name Value				
	persistenceId				
	Return type com.company.model.Applicant				
	Cancel OK				

To execute this script, you need to provide where the persistence Id script parameter comes from.

- Select the "Value" column for the *persistenceId* parameter.
- Set this value to the *applicantId* process variable

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ssion				
Expression type π Constant	Select the Business Object and the corresponding query to execute. Set the value for each parameter required by the query.				
🌜 Java	Business Object Queries				
🥑 Parameters	Applicant				
省 Query					
🔊 Script	Query content				
🚺 Variable	SELECT a FROM Applicant a WHERE a.persistenceId= :persistenceId				
	Parameters				
	Name Value				
	persistenceId i applicantId				
	Return type com.company.model.Applicant				
	Cancel OK				

▶ Push the "OK" button.

The query expression you have specified should be reflected in the list of operations for the activity:



Do the same to retrieve the information of the loan application. The query specification should look as follows:

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ession		
Expression type π Constant	Select the Business Object and the corresponding query to execu value for each parameter required by the query.	te. Set the	
🕹 Java	Business Object Queries		
Parameters	LoanApplication 🔻 findByPersistenceId	•	
Query Script	Query content SELECT l FROM LoanApplication l WHERE l.persistenceId= :persistenceId		
	Parameters		
	Name Value		
	persistenceId 🚺 loanApplicatio	onId	
	Return type com.company.model.LoanApplication		
	Cancel	ОК	

The full list of operations for the task "Read information" should look as follows:

🖋 General 📒 Dat	a 🗜 Execution 🛚 🗶 Appearance 🧟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap			_ ~ □
🖻 Read inform	ation			
Connectors in	Operations			?
Operations				
Connectors out	<pre> applicant </pre>	📋 🔻 🧷 Takes value of	Applicant.findByPersistenceId	¥▼ / 2 ×
	CanApplication	📋 💌 🖉 Takes value of	LoanApplication.findByPersistenceId	9 💌 🖉 🗶 🗶
	bbA			

Next, you will specify the message handling for the receive message start event "Incomplete application returned" in the loan application pool.

Select the "Incomplete application returned" event, then select the "Message content" panel in the "General" tab of the properties pane, and push the "Auto fill" button.

The message content should be mapped to process variables as follows:

J General 🛿 🛢 Da	ta 🗜 Execution 🗶 Appearance 오 Validation status 🔍 Minimap					▽	- 0
😕 Incomplete ap	plication returned						
General	Message content						?
Portal							
Message content	Auto-fill						
	Ç [loanApplicationId	🚺 🔻 🖉 🛛 Takes value of	loanApplicationId) 🖂 🗸] 🧷	×	
	applicantid	📋 🔻 🖉 🛛 Takes value of	applicantId	• 🛛	1 🧷	×	
	bbA						

Include an activity to read the information from the database in the loan application pool, after the receiving message start event "receive incomplete application"



Specify the operations for the task "Read information" in the same way as earlier:

🖋 General 📳 Data	🗜 Execution 🛿 🔏 Appearance 🧟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap			[] ▼ □
Read informa	tion			
Connectors in	Operations			\bigcirc
Operations	-		-	
Connectors out	applicant	📄 🔻 🤌 Takes value of	Applicant.findByPersistenceId	¥ 🖉 🖌
	CoanApplication	📄 🖣 🔹 🧷 Takes value of	LoanApplication.findByPersistenceId	🧣 🗸 🧷 🔀
	bbA			

Perform the automatic mapping of message content to process variables for the remaining three receive message start events in the loan application pool, "application rejection received," "application cancellation received," and "application approval received".

Because there are no further process activities specified following these message events, you need not bother reading the updated information from the database.

The intermediate message receive event "revised loan application received" in the receive updated application (sub-process) pool also requires a mapping of message content to process variables.

➤ Use the auto-fill feature to perform this mapping.

However, rather than reading the information from the database in the sub-process and then passing it back to the parent activity, you will pass only the applicant Id and loan application Id back to the parent process and will perform the data updates after the call activity task in the loan provisioning pool is complete.

- > Select the "Receive updated application" call activity.
- Select the "Execution" tab of the properties panel below the drawing area, then select the "Data to receive" pane



- Press the "Add" button to define the data that the call activity receives from the specified subprocess.
- > Map the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId* of the parent and sub-process as follows:

🖋 General 🛢 Data	🗜 Execution 🛿 🗶 Appearance 🥥 Validation status 🔍 Minimap			₫ ▽ □ □
🖾 Receive upda	ted application			
Connectors in	Data to receive			?
Data to send	Data from called process		Data in root process	
Data to receive	applicantId	Assigned to	applicantid	
Operations				
Connectors out	loanApplicationId	Assigned to	loanApplicationId	🗙
	Add			

Next, add a task after the call activity that updates the business variables from the database using the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId* that is received from the sub-process.

> Insert a script task called "Update info" immediately after the call activity



Specify the operations for this task as database queries as you have done for the "Read information" task earlier.

The operations should be defined as follows:

🝠 General 📒 Dat	ta 🗜 Execution 🛙 🗶 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	
🕤 Update Info		
Connectors in	Operations	
Operations Connectors out	An operation updates the value of a variable after an activity is performed. Operations are executed in the order they are l operations that recreate or update the variable must be handled in a separate activity.	sted. ${\vartriangle}$ A delete operation must be set on its own, in a dedicated activity. Other
	🗘 applicant 🖉 🗸 Takes value of 🛛 Applicant.findt	yPersistenceld 🦉 🔻 🧨 🎘
	CloanApplication	n.findByPersistenceld 🦉 👻 🌶 🎘 🕷
	Add	

Message Correlations

An important consideration in a collaboration of multiple processes is to ensure that messages are sent to the right *instance* of a process. In a typical request/response pattern, as you have modelled here where the loan provisioning process (message "Loan Application (incomplete)") and the loan application process responds (message "Loan Application (revised)", to the "receive updated application (sub-process)" process), you need to ensure that the message is being sent to that instance of the receive updated application sub-process that was called from the instance of the loan provisioning process that sent the loan application (incomplete) message to the loan application process.

You will do this through message correlation, i.e by specifying information that uniquely characterizes each process instance. In your case, this information is the combination of *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId*. To enable message correlation, you first need to ensure that an instance of the "receive updated application" sub-process, upon instantiation, is provided with the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId* of its parent process instance.

- > Select the "receive updated application" call activity in the loan provisioning process.
- Select the "Execution" tab and the "Data to send" panel in the properties pane.

🍠 General 📳 Data	a 🗜 Execution 🛿	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation status	🔍 Minimap	
📼 Receive upda	ted application				
Connectors in	Data to send				
Data to send					
Data to receive	Fetch contract				
Operations					
Connectors out	Add				

- Press the "Add" button to specify the data to be passed from the calling to the called process instance.
- Assign the *applicantId* of the root process to the *applicantId* in the called process. Make sure you select "Assigned to Data" as the type of data sending.
- Assign the *loanApplicationId* from the root process to the *loanApplicationId* in the called process.

Your data to send should look as follows:

🖋 General 🛢 Data	ata 🕏 Execution 🛱 🕂 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	→ ¬ ¬ ¬
🖾 Receive upda	dated application	
Connectors in	Data to send	?
Data to send Data to receive	Fetch contract	
Operations	Data from root process Data in called process	
Connectors out	applicantId 🛛 🗘 🗸 Assigned to Data 🔻 applicantId	
	loanApplicationId 🔋 🖌 🖉 Assigned to Data 🔹 loanApplicationId	
	Add	

Next, revisit the message "Loan application (revised)" that is being sent from the "Revised application submitted" message end event in the loan application pool.

- > Select that end event, then select the "Messages" pane in the "General" properties tab.
- Select the message and press the "Edit ..." button.
- > In the following dialog window, select the "Correlation between instances" tab:

😣 🗉 🛛 Add Me	ssage	
Add Message		10
A message is so Add data here	ent to another pool. to transfer for use in the target pool	0
Name	* Loan Application (revised)	
Description	n	
Target pool	* i Receive updated application (s	sub-process) 🔹 🥒 🧷
Target element	* i Revised loan application receiv	ved 🔹 🖌 🧷
Message conte	Correlation between instances	
Use correlation	on if you need to coordinate specific i	nstances of two processes.
i 🗌 Use key-b	ased correlation	
	Correlation key	Correlation Value
Add		
Remove		
Up		
		Cancel Finish

Tick the checkbox "Use key-based correlation" and set up the two correlation keys as shown in the following figure (next page)

😣 🗈 🛛 Add Messa	age			
Add Message			1.	
A message is sen Add data here to	t to another pool. transfer for use in the target pool		0	
Name *	Loan Application (revised)			
Description				
Target pool * i Receive updated application (sub-process)				
Target element * i Revised loan application received				
Message conten	t Correlation between instances			
Use correlation	if you need to coordinate specific i	instances of two processes.		
i 🗹 Use key-bas	ed correlation			
Co	orrelation key	Correlation Value		
Add ap	plicantId	🚺 applicantId		
Remove loa	anApplicationId	🔋 loanApplicationId		
Up				
		Cancel Fin	ish	

> Press the "Finish" button to complete the changes.

The corresponding message correlation keys also need to specified for the receive message event.

- Select the intermediate message receive event "Revised loan application received" in the receive updated loan application sub-process pool.
- ➤ In the "General" tab of the properties pane, select the "Correlation" panel.

🍠 General 🛿	🛢 Dat	a 🗜 Execution	∦ Appearance	오 Validation status	🔍 Minimap			
Revised l	Revised loan application received							
General		Correlation						
Portal		_						
Message cont	tent	Auto	o-fill					
Correlation		Add Remove						

Use the "Auto-fill" button to have Bonita Studio try to derive message correlation information based on naming and data types of correlation keys and process variables. Alternatively you can use the "Add" button to manually set up message correlation. Your correlations should map each correlation key to the process variable with the same name, as follows:



In summary, you have specified that upon sending the message, the two correlation keys are filled with the values of process variables of the sending instance, and the message is delivered to that instance of the receiving process where the values match the values of the respective process variables.

Comment: With the correlation keys set up in this way, actually sending the applicant Id and loan application Id as part of the message is redundant and the message content could be entirely omitted.

Comment: Similarly redundant is the data returned from the sub-process pool to the calling activity, which you have modelled as *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId*. As the "correct" sub-process instance is targeted by the message, so also the "correct" parent process will advance, which already contains the *applicantId* and *loanApplicationId*.

Comment: Note also that you do not need to set up message correlation for messages being sent to instances of the loan application pool. This is because the message receiving events are start events and therefore create another instance of the process. In fact, Bonita Studio does not allow message correlations to be used with message start events. If you had modelled the loan application process in greater detail, with proper flow and activities, these message start events would be intermediate message events and would therefore require correlation between process instances.

Script Task Operations

Your process model has two script tasks that need to provide information for subsequent flow decisions ("check application form completeness" and "check if insurance requested"). You have already modelled the flow conditions for the subsequent exclusive (XOR) gateways but so far have not specified where the variables for these conditions receive their values.

Select the "check application form completeness" task, then select the "Operations" panel in the "Execution" tab of the properties pane.



An operation in Bonita is an assignment of values to variables after a task completes execution.

- > Press the "Add" button to create a new operation.
- Set the target variable to be *isFormComplete*.
- ➢ For the expression on the right hand side, press the edit button (pencil symbol) to create the appropriate script that assigns a value to this variable.
- > In the following dialog, select the script expression type in the list on the left.

😣 🗈 🛛 Edit expr	ession	
Expression type T Constant Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name newScript() Select a variable	Groovy Quick Start Categories User defined (0) Bonita (12) Collection (27) Number (70) String (44) Others (626)
	Evaluate	type filter text
	Automatic dependencies resolution	
	Return type java.lang.Boolean	Documentation
	Cancel OK	

➢ Name the script "isFormComplete".

Next, specify the Groovy expression to use to evaluate whether the form is complete. You have access to all business and process variables in this script.

Enter an expression like in the following image that checks whether the main attributes of applicant and loan application are present and not empty

😕 🗉 Edit expre	ession
Expression type	
π Constant	Name isFormComplete
∮ Java I Parameters	Select a variable
省 Query	<pre>return (applicant.getName()==null?false:!applicant.getName().isEmpty()) &&</pre>
Script	(applicant.getFirstName()==null?false:!applicant.getFirstName().isEmpty()) && (applicant.getCurrentEmployer()==null?false:!applicant.getCurrentEmployer().isEmpty()) &&
U Variable	<pre>(loanApplication.getLoanInterestType()==null?false:!loanApplication.getLoanInterestType().isEmpty()) && (loanApplication.getPropertyType()==null?false:!loanApplication.getPropertyType().isEmpty()) && (loanApplication.getPropertyAddress()==null?false:!loanApplication.getPropertyAddress().isEmpty());</pre>
	Evaluate
	Automatic dependencies resolution
	Return type java.lang.Boolean
	Cancel OK

> Press the "OK" button to finish your expression.

Your expression should be reflected in the operation for the task:

🖋 General 🛢 Data 🗜 Execution 🛱 🕂 Appearance 🗟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	ſ	1	~ -	
S Check application form completness				
Connectors in Operations			(?	
Operations Connectors out) •]	٢	×	
Add				

Next, you will deal with the task "check if insurance is requested". Note that you did not create a process variable to capture if insurance was requested, as this is directly contained in the loan application information. Rather than executing a script to fill a process variable, you will use the loan application information directly in the subsequent decision.

- Delete the script task "check if insurance is requested" and connect the task "prepare acceptance pack" directly to the following inclusive gateway.
- Select the flow from the inclusive gateway to the task "send acceptance pack".
- In the "Properties" pane of the "General" tab, name this flow "always" and enter the condition "true", as shown in the following figure.

🕑 General	🛛 🗱 📕 Data 🖡	Execution	∦ Appearance	오 Validation status	Q Minimap
→ always	S				
General	General				
	Name	always			
	Description				
	Condition	Default Use exp i true	flow pression 🔿 Use	decision table	Ø

- Select the flow from the inclusive gateway to the task "send home insurance quote".
- Name this flow "isRequested" and select the edit button (pencil icon) to edit the condition.

In the following dialog window:

- Select "Java" for the type of expression on the left.
- > Select the "loanApplication" business variable in the center list.
- Select the method "isInsuranceRequired()" in the right list, as shown in the following figure.

😣 💷 🛛 Edit expre	ssion	
Expression type Comparison Constant Java Parameters Script	Name agreementSummary – com.company.model.LoanAgreement applicant – com.company.model.Applicant creditReport – com.company.model.CreditReport com.company.model.PropertyAppraisal riskAssessment – com.company.model.RiskAssessment	 Browse your Java object O LoanApplication isEligibility() - java.lang.Boolean isInsuranceRequired() - java.lang.Boolean
	Return type java.lang.Boolean	Cancel OK

> Press the "OK" button to finalize your expression.

The expression should be reflected in the properties of the flow as follows:

🍠 General	🔉 📕 Data 🖡	Execution	∦ Appearance	🔮 Validation :	status	🔍 Minimap
→ isRequ	Jested					
General	General					
	Name	isRequest	ed			
	Description					
	Condition	Default	flow ression () Use	decision table		
	condition	i loanApp	olication - LoanA	pplicati 👲 💌]	2

There are two further exclusive (XOR) gateways with data-based decisions. You have already modelled the condition expressions for the outgoing flows. All are based on boolean process variables ("isApplicantEligible", "doesApplicantAgree"). However, the values for these variables cannot be automatically computed by script tasks but will be manually entered in the preceding activities when the process is executed.

The task "Assess loan risk" is another script task. The purpose of this task is to use the credit history report to create a risk assessment object. Figure 10.12 in "Fundamentals" indicates that the task has access to a risk rules database, which you do not have for our simple tutorial. Instead, you will specify the risk rules directly in the form of a script.

- Select the task "Assess loan risk".
- > Then select the "Operations" panel in the "Execution" tab of the properties pane.

🖋 General 📕 Dat	a 🗜 Execution 🛿	∦ Appearance	오 Validation status	🔍 Minimap
🖻 Assess Loan	Risk			
Connectors in	Operations			
Operations	<i>.</i>			
Connectors out	Add			

Operations in Bonita are executed after a task has completed execution to update values of business or process variables.

- > Press the "Add" button to create a new operation.
- > Select the risk assessment as the target of this operation.
- > Click on the assignment operator to change it to "Instantiate with".

😣 Select operat	ог
Operator type In	stantiate with 🔹
Cance	el OK

Now create the script that instantiates a new risk assessment object and also provides the risk weight value for this object.

Click on the edit button for the expression on the right (pencil icon).

In the following dialog box:

- Select "Script" as the expression type.
- ➢ Name the script "assessLoanRisk".

The script has access to all business and process variables and you can define whatever credit risk evaluation rules you may want. As an example, the following expression adds the overdue balance and

the credit card balance from the credit history report, rounds the numbers as appropriate and converts them to an integer value.

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ession		
Expression type T Constant Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name newS Select a varia import o RiskAsse return r	<pre>cript() ble Select a provided variable Select a provided variable Sement newAssessment = new RiskAssessment(); ssment.setRiskWeight((creditReport.getOverDueBalance() + creditReport.getCreditCardBalance()).round().intValue()); lewAssessment;</pre>	Gr Ca D B C N SI O
	✔ Automatio	Evaluate c dependencies resolution	Fu
		Cancel OK	

> Press the "OK" button to close the dialog window.

The script you have created should be reflected in the operation for the task "Assess loan risk".

Finally, create an operation that assigns the *persistenceId* of the newly created risk assessment object to the *riskAssessmentId* variable of the loan application object.

- > Push the "Add" button to create a new operation.
- Select the loan application business variable as target.
- Select "Use a Java method" for the operator type.
- Select the "setRiskAssessmentId(Long)" as that Java method.

8 Select operator
Operator type Use a Java method 💌
setPropertyType(String) - void
setPurchasingPrice(Float) - void
 setReferenceAddress(String) - voic
setReferenceName(String) - void
setReferenceRelation(String) - voic
setRevisionDate(LocalDateTime) -
setRiskAssessmentId(Long) - void
setStatus(String) - void
setStatusComments(String) - void
setSubmissionDate(LocalDateTime
Cancel OK

- > Press the edit button (pencil icon) for the expression to determine the value to assign.
- ➢ As expression type, select "Java",
- Select the riskAssessment business variable.
- Select its "getPersistenceId()" method.

😣 🗉 Edit expre	ssion	
Expression type T Constant Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name agreementSummary – com.company.model.I applicant – com.company.model.Applicant creditReport – com.company.model.CreditRe loanApplication – com.company.model.Loan propertyAppraisal – com.company.model.Pro riskAssessment – com.company.model.RiskA	Browse your Java object ▼
	Return type java.lang.Long	
		Cancel OK

Press the "OK" button.

Your expression should be reflected in the operation you have just created:

🝠 General 📒 Data	🗜 Execution 🛱 🔏 Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 Minimap		▽ □ □
Assess Loan I	Risk		
Connectors in	Operations		?
Operations Connectors out	🗘 [riskAssessment 🖉 🗸 Instantiate with [assessLoanRisk] 🖉 .) 🧷	×
	CloanApplication Image: setRiskAssessmentId [riskAssessment - RiskAssessment#getPersistenceId]) 🧷	×
	bbA		

User Interface

With most of the process logic in place, it is time to the user tasks. User tasks (as well as pools) are specified using the concepts of contracts, forms, and operations. A contract is a set of business and process variables that serves as input to the task. A form is the visual user interface specification that presents these variables to the user and allows the user to make changes to the data. Finally, as noted earlier, operations are post-task assignments of values, including assignments from the user interface variables to business and process variables.

Bonita Studio provides a user interface designer that can automatically create basic forms from contract information. Bonita Studio can also create basic operations from contract information. For this tutorial, you will use the automatic generation of forms and operations.

Begin with the user task "Create Loan Application" in the loan application pool.

Select the task "Create Loan Application", then select the "Contract" panel of the "Execution" tab of the properties pane below the diagram area

🖋 General 🛢 Dat	a 🖡 Execution 🛿 🕂	Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 Mi	nimap		[] ▼ □ []
2 Create Loan	Application				
Connectors in	Task Inputs				
Contract	Inputs Constraints				
Form Operations	You can first define It will automaticall	e <u>business variables</u> and/or <u>documents</u> , a y map contract inputs to data, and create	and then click on "Add from data". e operations to update data with contract values.		
connectors out	Add from data	Name *	Туре	Multiple	i Description
	Add				
	Add child				
	Remove				

While you can manually specify the inputs to the task (using the "Add" button), you will instead use the existing data definitions to do this.

Press the "Add from data" button

😣 🗈 Add Contract input	
Select the data and the action to perform	1 .
Select the business variable or document which the contract inputs will be created as well as the action to perform.	0
Data O Business variable O Document	
Action 🗿 Instantiatei 🔿 Editi	
loanApplication – com.company.model.LoanApplication	
🖥 applicant – com.company.model.Applicant	
Input name applicantInput of ty	pe COMP
< Back Next > Finish & Add Cancel Fin	nish

- > Make sure that the "Instantiate" action is selected.
- Select the "applicant" business variable, then press the "Next >" button to select attributes of the applicant to be included in the contract

😣 🗈 Add Contract input					
Select applicant attributes to	add to contract				1.
Choose the fields you want to r	euse in your contract.				01
•	-				
Select all	Attribute name	Attribute type	Input type	Mandatory	
Deselect all	🗹 name	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🗹 firstName	STRING	TEXT	false	
Mandatory attributes	🖉 homePhone	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🗹 cellPhone	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🗹 currentStreet	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🖾 currentStreetNumber	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🗹 currentCity	STRING	TEXT	false	
	🗹 currentPostal	STRING	TEXT	false	
From the contract defi You can then modify th Auto-generate storage ope No, thanks. I'll manually def	More information about Contrac nition, the Studio can automaticall nese operations if necessary. rations fine how to use the contract.	t and Form generation. y generate operations t	o store or update bu	ısiness variables.	
	< Back	Preview >	inish & Add	ancel Fir	nish

> Include all variables, and ask Bonita to automatically generate storage operations.

Storage operations are carried out once a task finishes and are used to write back information from the user interface form to the business and process variables.

Press "Finish & Add".

The same dialog window will appear.

- Select the "loanApplication" business variable
- Select "Instantiate" as the action
- ➢ Press "Next >".

In contrast to the applicant information, there are some attributes of the loan application that you would not want the applicant to fill in. In particular you should <u>un-select</u> the following attributes:

submissionDate	eligibility	propertyAppraisalId
revisionDate	loanOfficer	riskAssessmentId
status	applicantId	loanAgreementId
statusComments	creditReportId	

🖲 🗉 Add Contract input

Select loanApplication attributes to add to contract

Choose the fields you want to reuse in your contract.

Select all	Attribute name	Attribute type	Input type	Mandator
Deselect all	🖾 referenceName	STRING	TEXT	false
	🖾 referenceAddress	STRING	TEXT	false
Mandatory attributes	referenceRelation	STRING	TEXT	false
	🖾 propertyType	STRING	TEXT	false
	🖾 propertyAddress	STRING	TEXT	false
	🖾 purchasingPrice	FLOAT	DECIMAL	false
	🖾 loanAmount	FLOAT	DECIMAL	false
	🖾 loanStartDate	DATE ONLY	DATE ONLY	false
	🖾 loanYears	INTEGER	INTEGER	false
	🖾 loaninterestType	STRING	TEXT	false
	submissionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TIME	DATE-TIME (NO TIME	false
	revisionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TIME	DATE-TIME (NO TIME	false
	🗆 status	STRING	TEXT	false
	statusComments	TEXT	TEXT	false
	eligibility	BOOLEAN	BOOLEAN	false
	loanOfficer	STRING	TEXT	false
	🖾 insuranceRequired	BOOLEAN	BOOLEAN	false
	applicantId	LONG	TEXT	false
	creditReportId	LONG	TEXT	false
	propertyAppraisalId	LONG	TEXT	false
	riskAssessmentId	LONG	TEXT	false
	· · ·			

More information about Contract and Form generation.

From the contract definition, the Studio can automatically generate operations to store or update business variables. You can then modify these operations if necessary.

O Auto-generate storage operations

○ No, thanks. I'll manually define how to use the contract.

< Back	Preview >	Finish & Add	Cancel	Finish

> Press the "Finish' button to complete the addition of variables to this contract.

After the addition of each variable, Bonita informs you that it also has created operations and that no refactoring is provided. You can verify the input contract by expanding the two entries in the inputs list:

🍠 General 📕 Dat	a 🗜 Execution 🛿 🕂	Appearance 오 Validation status 🔍 Minimap			
2 Create Loan	Application				
Connectors in	Task Inputs				
Contract	Inputs Constraints				
Form Operations Connectors out	You can first defin It will automaticall	e b <u>usiness variables</u> and/or <u>documents</u> , and then click on "Adc map contract inputs to data, and create operations to updat	from data". e data with contract values.		
	Add from data	Name *	Туре	Multiple	i Description
	bbA	 loanApplicationInput 	COMPLEX		
		referenceName	TEXT		
	Add child	referenceAddress	TEXT		
	Remove	referenceRelation	TEXT		
		propertyType	TEXT		
		propertyAddress	TEXT		
		purchasingPrice	DECIMAL		
		loanAmount	DECIMAL		
		loanStartDate	DATE ONLY		
		loanYears	INTEGER		
		loanInterestType	TEXT		
		submissionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TIME ZONE)		
		revisionDate	DATE-TIME (NO TIME ZONE)		
		status	TEXT		
		statusComments	TEXT		
		eligibility	BOOLEAN		
		loanOfficer	TEXT		
		insuranceRequired	BOOLEAN		
		- applicantInput	COMPLEX		
		name	TEXT		
		firstName	TEXT		
		homePhone	TEXT		
		cellPhone	TEXT		
		currentStreet	TEXT		
		currentStreetNumber	TEXT		
		currentCity	TEXT		
		currentPostal	TEXT		
		previousStreet	TEXT		
		previousStreetNumber	TEXT		
		previousCity	TEXT		
		previousPostal	TEXT		
		previousDuration	INTEGER		
		currentEmployer	TEXT		
		employerStartDate	DATE-TIME (NO TIME ZONE)		
		annualSalary	DECIMAL		
		mainBank	TEXT		
					1

Switch to the "Operations" panel to see the generated operations.

Bonita has generated one assignment operation for each attribute of each of the two business objects. Examining these operations in detail, the operations use the setter methods for each attribute to change the values based on the task inputs. You can remove operations for values that you do not want changed/edited and you can change the expressions on the right hand side if you want more complex value calculations and assignments.

Create Loan		Validación scacas - (Mininap			~ - 4
onnectors in	Application				
	Operations				?
orm	applicant	📋 🔻 🖉 setName 🛛 applican	ntinput.name	1 🧷	×
perations	applicant	📋 🔻 🧷 setFirstName 🛛 applic	cantInput.firstName	1 🧷	×
onnectors out	applicant	📋 🔻 🖉 setHomePhone 🛛 🔒	licantInput.homePhone	1 🧷	×
	2 applicant	📋 🔻 🖉 setCellPhone 🛛 🔒	cantinput.cellPhone	1 🤌	*
	2 applicant	setCurrentStreet	vlicantInput.currentStreet	1 🤌	*
	applicant	setCurrentStreetNumber	applicantInput.currentStreetNumber	1 🤌	×
	2 applicant	setCurrentCity applie	icantInput.currentCity	1 2	×
	applicant	setCurrentPostal app	olicantInput.currentPostal	1 🤌	×
	applicant	setPreviousStreet	plicantInput.previousStreet	10	\mathbf{x}
	applicant	setPreviousStreetNumber	applicantInput.previousStreetNumber	10	×
		setPreviousCity		10	
		setPreviousPostal	plicantInput.previousPostal	10	
		setPreviousDuration		10	
	applicant		policaptioput currentEmployer	10	
	applicant	setEmployerStartDate	applicantinput employerStartDate	10	
	applicant			1 1	
	loanApplication			• <u>~</u>	
			SanApplicationinput.rererenceRelation	9 @	
	loanApplication	setPropertyType loan	ApplicationInput.propertyType	1 2	
	loanApplication	setPropertyAddress	anApplicationInput.propertyAddress	1 2	×
	CloanApplication	setPurchasingPrice	anApplicationInput.purchasingPrice] 🧷	×
	CloanApplication	📋 🔻 🖉 setLoanAmount 🛛 loan	1ApplicationInput.loanAmount] 🧷	×
	CoanApplication	📋 🔻 🖉 setLoanStartDate 🛛 🚺	nApplicationInput.loanStartDate 🛛 📓 🔻] 🧷	×

Switch to the "Form" panel to create the user interface form for this contract.

🕑 General 📱 Data 🗜 Execution 🛱 🗶 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	
A Create Loan Application	
Connectors in Form	
Contract	
Form	
Operations Target form 8	
Connectors out	
This will enable generation of a form with the relevant widgets and data bindings for the contract i	nputs.
If you do not specify a form, a default form based on the contract is provided for development purp Click the pencil icon to edit the form, or use the dropdown list to map a different form	ooses.
cack the pertaktion to core the form, of the the droptown the to map a difference of the	

- Select the "UI Designer"
- Press the edit button (pencil icon).
This will open your web browser with the UI designer and a new form created from the task inputs.

When you select one of the input elements on this form, the property pane on the right will present you with options for this input element, as shown in the figure on the next page. Note in particular the name of the JavaScript variable towards the bottom of the list. This is the same name that is used in specifying the contract and the operations in Bonita Studio. Most of the properties are self-explanatory and you can change them as required.



- > At the top of the page, name the form "editApplicantApplication".
- Save it using the "Save" button.

You will re-use this form for other tasks as well.

🔀 FORM EDITOR	editApplicantApplication	۲	Save	•	2	

You can close the web browser window or tab. The form name should be reflected in the "Form" panel of the "Execution" tab of the properties pane, as shown below:

🝠 General 🛢 Data	a 🗜 Execution 🛱 🕂 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap								
Create Loan	2 Create Loan Application								
Connectors in	Form								
Contract									
Form	UI Designer () External URL () No form								
Operations	Target form editApplicationApplicant 🗸 🧳								
Connectors out	If the form has not yet been created, you are recommended to define the contract first. This will enable generation of a form with the relevant widgets and data bindings for the contract inputs. If you do not specify a form, a default form based on the contract is provided for development purposes. Click the pencil icon to edit the form, or use the dropdown list to map a different form.								

In addition to the automatically defined operations, you will need to define two further operations. Recall that the subsequent message end event sends a message with the applicant Id and the loan application Id as message content. Both are process variables, and you need to provide values for these in order for the message sending to be useful.

- Scroll to the end of the operations list, then use the "Add" button to add an additional operation.
- Select the "applicantId" process variable as target.

🥖 General 📒 Data	a 🗜 Execution 🛱 🕂 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						
2 Create Loan Application							
⊂ Contract	🗘 applicant 🗎 🗸 🖉						
Form	🗘 applicantId						
Operations							
Connectors out	Add						

> Use the edit button on the right (pencil icon) to define the expression for this variable.

In the following dialog window:

- Select "Java" as the type of expression on the left
- > Select the applicant business variable in the center column
- Select the "getPersistenceId()" method in the right column

😣 🗉 🛛 Edit expressi	on	
Expression type T Constant Contract Input Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name applicant - com.company.model.Applicant loanApplication - com.company.model.Loa	Browse your Java object • • Applicant • getAnnualSalary() - java.lang.Float • getCellPhone() - java.lang.String • getCurrentCity() - java.lang.String • getCurrentEmployer() - java.lang.String • getCurrentStreet() - java.lang.String • getCurrentStreet() - java.lang.String • getCurrentStreetNumber() - java.lang.S • getEmployerStartDate() - java.time.Loc • getFirstName() - java.lang.String • getHomePhone() - java.lang.String • getMainBank() - java.lang.String • getPersistenceId() - java.lang.String • getPersistenceVersion() - java.lang.Long • getPreviousCity() - java.lang.String • getPreviousDuration() - java.lang.Integ • getPreviousStreet() - java.lang.String • getPreviousStreet() - java.lang.String
	Recorn type Java.lang.Long	
		Cancel OK

- > Press the "OK" button to finalize the expression.
- Repeat the same process to create an operation for the loanApplicationId, using the "getPersistenceId()" method of the loanApplication business variable.

Your two additional operations should look as follows:

J General 🛢 Data 🗜 Execution 🕱 🔏 Appearance 🧟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap							1	~	
Create Loan	Applic	ation							
	^	applicantid			Takes value of	applicant - Applicant#getPersistenceId		- 1 4	
Form	ž			~	Takes value of	applicant - Applicant#getreisistenceid			•
Operations	0	loanApplicationId	U •	Z	Takes value of	loanApplication - LoanApplication#getPersistenceId	🛓	· · / 2	× ×
Connectors out		Add							

- Use the same procedure to define the execution properties (contract, form, operations) for the task "Revise Application" in the loan application pool, *but with two differences*:
- 1. Instead of selecting the "Instantiate" action when adding data to the input contract, make sure you select the "Edit" action.
- 2. Instead of creating a new form, select the existing form "editApplicantApplication" from the drop-down list. Your execution properties should look as follows:

🖋 General 📳 Dat	ta 🗜 Execution 🛱 🕂	Appearance 오 Validation statu	s 🔍 Minimap			
A Revise applie	cation					
Connectors in	Task Inputs					
Contract	Inputs Constraints					
Form Operations	You can first defin It will automatical	e <u>business variables</u> and/or <u>docur</u> ly map contract inputs to data, an	<mark>ments</mark> , and then click on "Add fro d create operations to update da	om data". ata with contract values		
connectors out	Add from data	Name *		Туре	Multiple	i Description
	Add	IoanApplicationInput		COMPLEX		
		applicantInput		COMPLEX		
	Demewe					
	Remove					
Connectors in Connectors in Contract Form Connectors out Connectors out	Execution X Appearance Perations (IoanApplication IoanApplication IoanApplication Data F Execution Application Form	ce 🛛 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	SetReferenceName	IoanApplicationInput.refer IoanApplicationInput.refer IoanApplicationInput.refer IoanApplicationInput proper	enceName renceAddress renceRelation tvTvne	
Connectors	in Form					
Contract	O UI I	Designer 🔘 External U	JRL 🔿 No form			
Operations						
Connectors	Targe	editApplica	ntApplication		• J 🖉	
Connectors	If the This If you Click	form has not yet been will enable generation o I do not specify a form, the pencil icon to edit t	created, you are recon of a form with the relev a default form based o he form, or use the dro	nmended to defi vant widgets and on the contract i opdown list to m	ne the contract first. d data bindings for the co s provided for developme aap a different form.	entract inputs. ent purposes.

Next, consider the "Appraise Property" task. From Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals" you know that appraise property requires the loan application (which includes the applicant information) as input and creates a property appraisal as output.

- Select the "Appraise Property" task.
- Select the "Contract" panel in the "Execution" tab of the properties pane.
- Using the same method as above, create a contract in which the loan application, the applicant and the property appraisal are data inputs to this task:

😣 🗉 Add Contract input	
Select the data and the action to perform Select the business variable or document which the contract inputs will be created as well as the	65
Data O Business variable Document Action Instantiatei O Editi	
 loanApplication - com.company.model.LoanApplication - Default value: init_loanApplication() applicant - com.company.model.Applicant - Default value: init_applicant() propertyAppraisal - com.company.model.PropertyAppraisal - Default value: init_propertyAppraisal() riskAssessment - com.company.model.RiskAssessment - Default value: init_riskAssessment() creditReport - com.company.model.CreditReport - Default value: init_creditReport())
Input name applicantInput of type COMPLEX	~
< Back Next > Finish & Add Cancel Finish	;h

- ➢ Press the "Next >" button.
- > On the following dialog, decline the creation of operations.

Applicant information is input only to this task and should not be updated after the task is complete.

😣 🗉 🛛 Add Contract input			
Select applicant attributes to	add to contract		
Choose the fields you want to re	euse in your contract.		(0)
Select all	Attribute name	Attribute type	Input type
Deselect all	🗹 name	STRING	TEXT
	🗹 firstName	STRING	TEXT
From the contract definition, t You can then modify these ope O Auto-generate storage ope	he Studio can automatiate rrations if necessary. rations	operations to store or update	business variables.
O No, thanks. I'll manually def	ine how to use the contract.		
	< Back Preview >	Finish & Add Cancel	Finish

- Press the "Finish & Add" button.
- Do the same for the loan application, also declining the creation of operations. You should deselect the attributes for applicantId, propertyAppraisalId, loanAgreementId, creditReportId, and creditReportId. <u>These should never be in any input contract nor should these be visible on any</u> form.
- Press the "Finish & Add" button.
- Select the propertyAppraisal business variable as input.
- Ensure you select the "Instantiate" action in order to create a new propertyAppraisal object.
- Include all its attributes and ask Bonita to auto-generate storage operations for the property appraisal.
- Press the "Finish" button.

Your contract should like in the following diagram:



Your operations should include operations only for the property appraisal:

🖋 General 🛢 Dat	a 🗜 E	xecution 🛱 🗶 Appearance 🧟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						~	- 0
Appraise Pro	perty								
Connectors in	Ope	rations							?
Contract									2
Form	÷	propertyAppraisal		setPropertyType	propertyAppraisalInput.propertyType		1	2 💌	<u>.</u>
Operations	۵	propertyAppraisal	i • d	setPropertyStreet	propertyAppraisalInput.propertyStreet		1	2 🗙	•
Connectors out	\$	propertyAppraisal) 🗎 🔻	setPropertyCity	propertyAppraisalInput.propertyCity		1	2 🗙	8
	^	property/Appraisal	1 v 1	eatDronartuDoctal	PropertyAppraisalionut propertyPostal	Image: A state of the state		۰ 🖌	ē)

- > Create a form for this task using the user interface designer.
- Name the form "propertyAppraisalForm" and set all fields for attributes of the applicant and loan application to be "read-only".



Finally, create an operation that assigns the persistenceId of the newly created property appraisal object to the property AppraisalId variable of the loan application object.

- > Push the "Add" button to create a new operation.
- Select the loan application business variable as target.
- Select "Use a Java method" as operator type.
- Select the "setPropertyAppraisalId(Long)" as that Java method:

😣 Se	elect operator					
Opera	ator type Use a Java method 🔻					
•	setLoanYears(Integer) - void					
•	setPersistenceId(Long) - void					
•	setPersistenceVersion(Long) - void					
•	setPropertyAddress(String) - void					
•	setPropertyAppraisalId(Long) - vo					
•	setPropertyType(String) - void					
•	setPurchasingPrice(Float) - void					
•	setReferenceAddress(String) - void					
•	setReferenceName(String) - void					
•	setReferenceRelation(String) - voic					
	Cancel OK					

- > Press the edit button (pencil icon) for the expression to determine the value to assign.
- Select "Java" as expression type.
- > Select the propertyAppraisal business variable.
- Select its "getPersistenceId()" method.

😣 🗉 Edit expressio	n	
Expression type	Name agreementSummary – com.company.mode poplicant – com.company.model.Applicant creditReport – com.company.model.Credite loanApplication – com.company.model.Loa propertyAppraisal – com.company.model.Risk riskAssessment – com.company.model.Risk	Browse your Java object © PropertyAppraisal getComments() - java.lang.String getMarketValue() - java.lang.Float getPersistenceId() - java.lang.Long getPropertyCity() - java.lang.String getPropertyPostal() - java.lang.String getPropertyStreet() - java.lang.String getPropertyType() - java.lang.String getSurroundingValue() - java.lang.Float
	Return type java.lang.Long	
		Cancel OK

Press the "OK" button.

Your expression should be reflected in the operation you have just created:

📝 General 📱 Data 🦊 Execution 🕱 🗶 Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						- 0
Appraise Pro	perty					
Connectors in	Ç	propertyAppraisal	📕 🔻 🧷 setPropertyPostal 🛛 propertyAppraisalInput.propertyPostal	/ 🦉	20	ĸ
Contract	Ŷ	propertyAppraisal	🔋 🔻 🧷 setMarketValue 🛛 propertyAppraisalInput.marketValue 🖉 🔻 🛛	1 🧳		K
Form	Ŷ	propertyAppraisal	👔 🔻 🖉 setSurroundingValue 🛛 propertyAppraisalInput.surroundingValue 🖉 🗸	1 🧳		K
Operations Connectors out	÷	propertyAppraisal	📋 🔻 🖉 setComments 🛛 🖉 🗸	1 🖉		K
	÷	loanApplication	📋 🔻 🖉 setPropertyAppraisalld 🛛 propertyAppraisal - PropertyAppraisal#getPersistenceId 🛛 🛓 🔻 🛛	1 🖉		K
		Add				

Next, consider the "check credit history" task. Figure 10.12 in "Fundamentals" tells you that the loan application (which includes the applicant) is input to this task, and the credit history report is output of this task.

> Create the contract, form, and operations for the task "check credit history".

Make sure you select the "**Instantiate**" action for the credit history report and that you create operations only for the credit history attributes. Also ensure that attributes of the applicant and loan application are read-only on the user interface form. Finally, do not forget to set the *persistenceId* of the new credit history report object in the loan application attribute *creditReportId*.

Next, consider the task "Assess eligibility". Figure 10.12 in "Fundamentals" tells you that the loan application (including applicant information), the risk assessment, and the property appraisal are input to this task, and a possibly changed loan application is output of this task.

> Create the contract, form, and operations for the task "Assess eligibility".

🖋 General 📒 Dal	ta 🗜 Execution 🛱 🕂	Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 M	inimap		
Assess Eligit	bility				
Connectors in	Task Inputs				
Contract	Inputs Constraints				
Form	You can first defin	e business variables and/or documents	and then click on "Add from data"		
Operations	It will automatical	y map contract inputs to data, and create	e operations to update data with contra	ct values.	
Connectors out					•
	Add from data	Name *	Туре	Multiple	1 Description
		and the second sec			
	Add	IoanApplicationInput	COMPLEX		
	Add	 IoanApplicationInput applicantInput 	COMPLEX		
	Add Add child	 IoanApplicationInput applicantInput riskAssessmentInput 	COMPLEX COMPLEX COMPLEX		

Because this task assesses eligibility, assume that only the attribute *isEligible* of the loan application can be changed by this task. You need one operation:

🖋 General 🛢 Data 🗜 Exe	cution 🕱 🗶 Appearance 🥝 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	₫ ▽ □ □
Assess Eligibility		
Connectors in Opera	itions	?
Contract Form	loanApplication 👔 🗸 🖉 setEligibility 🛛 loanApplicationInput.eligibility	Ø 🕶 🥒 🗶 🗶
Operations Ad	dd	

However, the following exclusive (XOR) gateway has flows with conditions that depend on the process variable *isApplicantEligible*. Hence, you need to create an operation for the task "Assess eligibility" that sets the value of this process variable from the form input.

- > Press the "Add..." button to create a new operation.
- > Select the process variable *isApplicantEligible* as target.
- Select the edit button (pencil icon) to define the expression for this variable.

In the following dialog window:

- Select "Java" for the type of expression.
- Select the loan application variable
- Select the "isEligibility()" access method.

😣 🗉 Edit express	ion	_
Expression type T Constant Contract Input Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name agreementSummary – com.company.mode applicant – com.company.model.Applicant creditReport – com.company.model.CreditI loanApplication – com.company.model.Loa propertyAppraisal – com.company.model.P riskAssessment – com.company.model.Risk	Browse your Java object •• LoanApplication • getLoanAmount() - java.lang.Float • getLoanInterestType() - java.lang.String • getLoanOfficer() - java.lang.String • getLoanStartDate() - java.lang.String • getLoanYears() - java.lang.Integer • getPersistenceId() - java.lang.Long • getPropertyAddress() - java.lang.Long • getPropertyType() - java.lang.String • getPropertyType() - java.lang.String • getPropertyType() - java.lang.String • getReferenceAddress() - java.lang.String • getReferenceRelation() - java.lang.String • getReferenceRelation() - java.lang.String • getStatus() - java.lang.String • getStatusComments() - java.lang.String • getSubmissionDate() - java.lang.String • java.lang.Boolean • isInsuranceRequired() - java.lang.Boolea
	Return type java.lang.Boolean	
		Cancel OK

> Press the "OK" button to finalize your expression.

Explanation: You can get the value from the loan application business variable because operations are executed in the order in which they are specified. This operation is carried out after the loan application is updated with the form value.

Your operations for the task "Assess eligibility" should look as in the following figure:

a 🗜 I	Execution 🛱 🔏 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🔍 Minima	ар			T ~ D
ility					
Ope	erations				
	(· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Ň	toanApplication		secEugiDiucy		
, °	isApplicantEligible	0 -	Takes value of	loanApplication - LoanApplication#isEligibility	<u></u>
	Add				
	ility Op	a	a IF Execution ⊠ If Appearance ⊘ Validation status Q Minimap ility Operations ↓ [loanApplication) • ↓ ↓ [sApplicantEligible] • ↓ Add	a IF Execution ☎ If Appearance ♥ Validation status ♥ Minimap ility Operations ↓ [oanApplication ↓ ♥ ♪ setEligibility ↓ [sApplicantEligible ↓ ♥ ▼ Takes value of Add	Image: SapplicatEligible Image: SapplicatEligible Image: Sapplication + LoanApplication + Loan

According to Fig. 10.12 in "Fundamentals", tasks "Prepare acceptance pack," "Send acceptance pack," and "Send home insurance quote" require only the loan application (with applicant information) as input, and have no outputs. Therefore, you do not need to create any operations, and can make all form elements read-only. As all three tasks use the same inputs (and outputs), you can reuse the form that you create for the first of these.

Specify input contract and form(s) for these three tasks

The task "Verify repayment agreement" requires the loan application (with applicant information) as input, and produces the agreement summary as output.

- > Create contract input, form and operations for task "Verify repayment agreement".
 - Select the "Instantiate" action when adding the loan agreement summary to the input contract
 - Define operations only for the agreement summary attributes, not for the loan application attributes.
 - Create a customized form for this task. Set the loan application and applicant fields to be read-only.
 - Aadd an operation that records the *persistenceId* of the new loan agreement summary object in the *loanAgreementSummaryId* attribute of the loan agreement object.

Next, you need to create an additional operation to set the value of the process variable *doesApplicantAgree* which is used in the flow conditions of the subsequent exclusive (XOR) gateway. The value of this variable should be the conjunction (AND) of the two boolean values of the repayment summary business variable.

- ▶ Use the "Add" button to create an additional operation.
- Select the process variable "doesApplicantAgree" as target.
- Select the edit button (pencil icon) to create an expression for the value to assign to this variable.

In the following dialog window,

- Select "Script" as the type of expression
- > Name the expression and enter the script as follows:

😣 🗊 Edit express	ion	
Expression type T Constant Contract Input Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name determineAgreement Select a variable Select a provided variable return agreementSummary.isConditionsAgreed() && agreementSummary.isRepaymentAgreed();	Groovy Quick Start Categories User defined (0) Bonita (12) Collection (27) Number (70) String (44) Others (626)
	Evaluate Automatic dependencies resolution Return type java.lang.Boolean Cancel OK	Functions type filter text Documentation

> Push the "OK" button to complete the expression.

The "determineAgreement" script should be reflected in the list of operations for the task, shown in the following figure:

🥖 General 📕 Dal	Ceneral B Data # Execution © M Appearance 📀 Validation status 🔍 Minimap					
A Verify repay	ment agreement					
Connectors in	Operations		3			
Contract						
Form	2 agreementSummary	📕 🔻 🖉 setConditionsAgreed agreementSummaryInput.conditionsAgreed	Ø 🗸 🗶			
Operations	agreementSummary	🔋 🔻 🤌 setRepaymentAgreed agreementSummaryInput.repaymentAgreed	📄 🖉 🖉 🗶			
Connectors out	0 doesApplicantAgree	🟮 🔻 🧷 Takes value of 🛛 determineAgreement	📓 🔻 🥒 🎘			
	Add					

The two final tasks "Cancel application" and "Approve application" both have the loan application (with applicant information) as input and output and also require the agreement summary as input. Here too, the form you create for one task is reusable for the other task. You can assume that only the status and comments on the status of the loan application can be updated by these tasks.

Create input contracts, forms, and operations for tasks "cancel application" and "approve application"

Your list of operations will look as follows and your form should have all other fields as read-only.

📝 General 📱 Data 🖡 Execution 😫 🔏 Appearance 🛇 Validation status 🔍 Minimap	
Cancel application	
Connectors in Operations	?
Contract	
Form CoanApplication SetStatus CoanApplicationInput.status	
Operations 🗘 [[oanApplication]] 🖬 🗸 & setStatusComments [[oanApplicationinput.statusComments	📄 🖌 🌶 🌋
Connectors out	
bA	

Pool User Interface

Pools in Bonita can have user interfaces just as user tasks do. In fact, pools have an input contract as well. However, in your process, variables are instantiated by task operations and you not require the user to provide any values when the process in a pool is instantiated. In fact, only the loan application pool process should be directly instantiated by the user. The loan provisioning pool is instantiated by a message and the receive updated application (sub-process) pool is instantiated by the call activity.

- Select the loan application pool.
- > Select the "Instantiation form" panel of the "Execution" tab in the properties pane.
- > Use the UI designer to create a new instantiation form.

This is the same procedure as forms for user tasks. Because the input contract is empty (there are no inputs specified for instantiating this pool), the default form simply provides a "submit" button. You do not need to make any changes for this tutorial.

> Name the form "loanApplicationStartForm" and save it.

🝠 General 🛢 Data 🖡	🗜 Execution 🛿 🕂 Appearance 🛇 Validation status 🔍 Minimap
🗆 Loan Applicatio	on and a second s
Connectors in	Instantiation form
Contract	
Instantiation form	
Overview page	Target form 🛛 🗸 🖉
Connectors out	If the form has not you been created you are recommended to define the contract first
	This will enable generation of a form with the relevant widgets and data bindings for the contract inputs. If you do not specify a form, a default form based on the contract is provided for development purposes. Click the pencil icon to edit the form, or use the dropdown list to map a different form.

Because the loan provisioning pool's process is not instantiated by a user but by a message, no form is required.

- Select the loan provisioning pool.
- > Select the "Instantiation form" pane in the "Execution" tab of the properties pane.
- Set it to "No form"



> Do the same for the receive revised application (sub-process) pool.

Runtime Variables

There are various situations where data should be updated automatically based on runtime variables. For example, the loan application contains an attribute loan officer which should be updated with the name of the loan officer who dealt with this application first (or last). Similarly, the credit history report has an attribute for the name of the financial officer. The values for these variables can be retrieved from runtime variables that Bonita maintains during process instance execution. The following is a useful Bonita runtime function using runtime variables:

```
BonitaUsers.getUser(apiAccessor,taskAssigneeId).userName;
```

The function returns the user name of the resource that is assigned to the task. Other attributes of a user are the *firstName*, *lastName*, *title*, *jobTitle*, *managerUserName*, and *managerUserId*.

- Select the task "Assess eligibility"
- Select the "Operations" panel in the "Execution" tab in the properties pane.
- Press the "Add" button to add an operation.

- ➤ As target, select the loan application business variable.
- Change the operation type by clicking on "Takes value of":

😣 Select oper	rator
Operator type	Takes value of 🔹
Ca	ncel OK

- > In this dialog box, select "Use a Java method".
- > In the following dialog box, select "setLoanOfficer(String)" as the Java method to use.

This should be reflected in the new operation:

🖋 General 🛢 Data	a ₽ E	xecution 🛿 🔏 Appearance 🗟 Validation status 🔍 Minimap						•	
Assess Eligib	ility								
Connectors in	Оре	rations							?
Contract		<u> </u>		.	6				
Form	Ŷ	loanApplication		🦉 🦉 setEligibilit	loanApplicationInput.eligibility	<u> </u>	1	Ø 🕑	K
Operations	÷	isApplicantEligible	0 -	🥒 Takes value	f loanApplication - LoanApplication#isEligibility	ي 🛃 🛨	1	e 👂	K
Connectors out	0	loanApplication	Û -	🧷 setLoanOffi	er		1	2 🕽	×
		add							

Use the edit button on the right (pencil icon) to edit the expression for creating the value for the parameter for that method.

In the dialog window that follows:

- Select "Script" for the type of expression.
- ➢ Name the expression "userName".
- > Enter the script as in the following figure (next page).

😣 🗉 Edit expressi	on	
Expression type T Constant Contract Input Java Parameters Query Script Variable	Name userName Select a variable return BonitaUsers.getUser(apiAccessor,taskAssigneeId).firstName + " " + BonitaUsers.getUser(apiAccessor,taskAssigneeId).lastName;	Groovy Quick Start Categories User defined (0) Bonita (12) Collection (27) Number (70) String (44) Others (626) Functions type filter text
	\triangle Bonita API should only be used for <u>read only calls</u> in groovy scripts.	
	Automatic dependencies resolution	
	Return type java.lang.String Browse	
	Cancel	

- Press the "OK" button to finish the expression.
- Do the same for the task "Check credit history" to set the name of the financial officer in the credit history report in that task's operations.

The loan application also contains the submission and the revision date. Both of these should be automatically set after the tasks "Create loan application" and "Revise application" complete.

- Select the task "Create loan application".
- In the "Operations" panel of the "Execution" tab of the properties pane, find the operation that sets the value for the attribute "submissionDate".
- Click on the edit button (pencil icon) to adapt the script.
- Change the script and its name as follows (next page)

😣 🗉 Edit express	ion	
Expression type π Constant	Name now	Groovy Quick Start Categories
Contract Input Java Parameters Query Script	Select a variable Select a provided variable Select a provided variable	User defined (0) Bonita (12) Collection (27) Number (70) String (44)
Variable	Evaluate Automatic dependencies resolution Return type java.time.LocalDateTime Browse	Others (626) Functions type filter text
	Cancel OK	Documentation

> Do the same for the task "Revise application" and the operation to set the revision date.

At this point, the process specification is complete. Select the "Validation status" tab in the properties pane and press the "Refresh" button. You will see a number of warnings:

د	? General 📱 Data 🖡 Execution 🔏 Appearance 🔮 Validation status 🛱 🔍 Minimap 📮 🗖								
	Refresh								
	Severity 👻	Element	Description						
	۵	Loan Provisioning	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for overview page mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONL	Y.					
	۵	Loan Application	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for overview page mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONL	Y.					
	۵	Receive updated application (sub-process)	UI Designer form type is selected and no target form is defined for overview page mapping. An autogenerated form will be used in the development environment ONL	Y.					
	۵	Is insurace requested	An output default flow should be defined for Is insurace requested						
	۵	Is insurace requested	An output default flow should be defined for Is insurace requested						

One warning is for the lack of a default flow from the inclusive (OR) gateway. The desired process flow requires conditions on both flows (one of which is the constant 'true') but no condition can be a assigned to a default gateway, our process demands. In fact, Bonita activates the default flow from an inclusive gateway only when no other flow is activated; it behaves the same as an exclusive gateway, which is not what we require for this process.

The remaining three warnings concern the lack of an overview page. Overview pages provide information about running and archived cases in the Bonita Portal. They can show current values for business and process variables, and information about completed and activated tasks. For this tutorial, you can rely on the default forms that Bonita provides for testing the process.

Process Deployment

Once the process model is specified, it needs to be deployed to the Bonita workflow management server. The primary work involved in this is the mapping of actors specified for the BPMN pools to resources declared on the workflow management server. This mapping is part of process "configuration".

In Bonita Studio,

- Select the Loan Application pool.
- > In the menu, select "Server" \rightarrow "Configure".
- > In the following dialog window, select "Actor mapping" in the list on left side.

😣 🗉 🛛 Local configuratio	on for Loan Application (1.0)	
Configuration of Loan A	pplication (1.0) napped to any group, role, membership or user	6
Actor mapping Parameters	Actor mapping Define the actor mappings using an existing organization	
	Applicant – Not mapped	Groups
		Roles
		Memberships
		Users
	Import actor mapping file Export actor mapping as file	
Display advanced con	figuration Car	Finish

There is only one actor defined for this pool, the applicant, and Bonita tells you it is not yet mapped to any resource in the Big Bank organization that you defined and deployed on the server earlier.

- Select the "Applicant" actor, then press the "Groups ..." button.
- > In the following dialog window, select the Applicants group in the Big Bank organization.

80			
Select groups Choose which groups t	o map for this actor		6
Select an organization	Big Bank		•
Group Applicants /Employees			•
		Cancel	Finish

- > Press the "Finish" button to complete this mapping.
- > Press the "Roles ..." button to further select a role.
- > In the following dialog window, select the "Anonymous Custonmer" role.

80	
Select roles Choose which roles to map for this actor	6
Select an organization Big Bank	•
Role name	•
AnonymousCustomer	
FinancialOfficer	
InsuranceSalesRep	
LoanOfficer	
PropertyAppraiser	
	Cancel Finish

> Press the "Finish" button to complete this mapping.

The mappings you have created for the Applicant actor to the group and role should be reflected in the dialog window:

😣 🗉 🛛 Local configurat	ion for Loan Application (1.0)	
Configuration of Loan Define the actor mappi	Application (1.0) ngs using an existing organization	6
Actor mapping Parameters	Actor mapping Define the actor mappings using an existing organization	
	 Applicant Groups /Applicants Roles AnonymousCustomer 	Roles Memberships
	Import actor mapping file Export actor mapping as file	
Display advanced co	Cance	el Finish

- > Press "Finish" to complete the mapping for this process.
- > Use the same procedure to map all actors for the remaining two pools.

The actor mapping for the loan provisioning pool process should look as follows:



The actor mapping for the receive revised loan application (sub-process) pool should look as in the following image:

😣 💿 Local configuration for Receive updated application (sub-process) (1.0)						
Configuration of Reco Define the actor mapp	eive updated application (sub-process) (1.	• 6				
Actor mapping Parameters	Actor mapping Define the actor mappings using an existing Big bank employee (sub-process) Second Second	g organization Groups Roles Memberships Users				
Display advanced o	configuration Cance	l Finish				

Process Execution

To launch the process on the Bonita workflow management server and to log into the Bonita Portal to work with the process, its cases, and tasks:

- Select the loan application pool in the BPMN diagram.
- ▶ In the menu, select "Server" \rightarrow "Run".

Bonita Studio will deploy the latest versions of all processes to the workflow management server, and will open a browser window where the default user for that organization is logged in to Bonita Portal. The portal page will show the instantiation form that you have defined for the pool.

In your case, you may have defined a form with only a "Submit" button as the pool instantiation form.



> Press the "Submit" button to create a new instance of the loan application process.

You will be taken to the task list where the first task is already selected and its user interface form is shown on the right side of the page.

😣 🖨 🕕 🛛 Bonita Portal - Me	ozilla Firefox	
🕝 Bonita Portal	× 🤌 New Tab × 🕂 +	
$\overleftarrow{\bullet}$ \rightarrow \bigcirc \textcircled{a}	() localhost:8080/bonita/portal/homepage#?_pf=1&_p=tasklistinguser	··· 🖂 🏠 👘 🔁 =
& Bonitasoft		Welcome: Customer Customer - Q User - Settings
	☑ Tasks	
<	Filters	Form Comments Overview
To do My tasks Done tasks	Process All Case ID Search In task name column	Create Loan Application
	Task list C	Reference Name
	L TAKE	Reference Address
	Create Loan Application Loan Application -	Reference Relation
	1-1/1	Property Type
		Property Address

You cannot interact with the task (that is, its form) unless you accept ("take") the task. When you mouse over the form, Bonita Portal will offer you a button to take the task. Alternatively, select the task in the task list on the left, and select the "Take" action.

After you have taken the task, you can interact with the form and provide required values. Notice that some values are required (indicated by a little star next to the form label), and some values are prepopulated based on the initialization script for the loan application and applicant business variables. Fill in all required values and press the "Submit" button.

The customer's loan application process is finished after this task.

Log out of the portal on the top right.

You will be taken to the Bonita Portal log in page.

😣 😑 🗈 🛛 Bonita Portal - Mozilla Firefox					
6 Bonita Portal × +					
\leftrightarrow \rightarrow C \textcircled{a} \textcircled{i} localhost:8080/bor	nita/login.jsp?_l=	⊌ ☆	111	>>	≡
Welcome	<i>to</i> Bonita Portal				
		Login form			
2.1	jane	٤			
Donitocoft	•••••	6			
DUIIIIdSUII					
		LOGIN			

Log in with the user name "Jane" and the password you have specified for this user when you defined the organization.

You will be presented with Jane's worklist, which contains two tasks for same case, "Appraise Property" and "Check Credit History".

😣 🖨 🗊 🛛 Bonita Port	al - Mo	zilla Firefox				
😉 Bonita Portal	2	× +				
← → ♂ ✿		i loca	alhost:8080/bonita/port	al/homepage#?_pf=1	I&_p=tasklistinguser	····· 🖂 🏠 👘 🖾 🗉
👉 Bonitaso	oft					Welcome: Jane Doe 🔻 💽 User 🔻 Settings
		🗹 Tasks	≫ Cases	Processes		
	<	Filters				Form Comments Overview
To do	2	Process	All -	Case	Case ID	To fill out the form you need to take this task. This means you will be the only
My tasks		Search			Q	one able to do it. To make it available to the team again, release it.
Done tasks		In task name	e column			
			~			Applicant
		Task list	C			Name
		👤 так	E & RELEASE		1-2/2 🌣	Bob
			Task name 🔺	Process name	Due date	First Name
			Appraise Property	Loan Provisioning		Mobbitty
						Home Phone
			Check Credit History	Loan Provisioning	-	5555555
					1-2/2	Cell Phone
					1-272	1111111

You defined Jane as the only employee of Big Bank and had assigned all four roles within Big Bank to Jane. Consequently, she is able to perform tasks in any of the four lanes of the loan provisioning pool and she is the only one able to perform that work. In a realistic environment, you would define multiple users with specialized roles.

Both tasks contain the relevant information that was entered by the customer/applicant in the earlier task. Upon taking and completing both tasks, Jane will be offered the task "Assess Eligibility". After taking this task, note that the risk assess attribute value is the sum of the credit card balance and the overdue balance. Recall that this is what you specified for the script task "Assess loan risk", demonstrating that this task has been executed.

😆 🖨 🗐 🛛 Bonita Pe	ortal - Mo	zilla Firefox									
🕝 Bonita Portal	:	× +									
↔ ↔ ♥ ✿		i localho	st :8080/bonita/p	ortal/homepage#?	_pf=1&_p=tasklistinguser	۲ ۲		🗵	\$	III\ 🗉 🙂 💐 😫	≡
👉 Bonita	soft							Welco	me: Jane Doe	▼ 🛛 User ▼ Settin	ngs
		🗹 Tasks	≫ Cases	Processes	;						
	<	Filters				>	Form	Comments	Overview	2	č
To do	1	Process AI	I •		Case ID		Risk Ass	sessment			
My tasks	1	Search			Q		Risk Weig	jht			
Done tasks							9000			Ĩ	
							Property	/ Appraisal			
		Task list C					Property 7	Туре			
		👤 TAKE	오 RELEASE		1-1/1 🌣		house				
		🗌 💄 Та	sk name 🔺	Process name	Due date		Property	Street			
		□ 1 A	ssess Eligibility	Loan Provisioning			Main str	eet			
							Property	City			
					1 - 1 / 1		Big city				Ь.
							Property I	Postal			
							985745				

Accept this task and check the box "Eligibility" to indicate that the applicant is eligible to receive a loan for this loan application. The next task on Jane's work list is "Prepare acceptance pack". After you take and complete this task, "Send acceptance pack" will be in the work list, and, depending on whether you ticked the box "Insurance required", the task "Send home insurance quote" may also be in the work list. After completing these tasks, "Verify repayment agreement" will be in the work list. Depending on whether box conditions in the agreement summary are checked (true), the final user task in the process is either "Notify Cancellation" or "Notify Approval".

You may also want to play through the process with an incomplete loan application to ensure that the process properly handles revision of incomplete applications.

You may also wish to play through ineligible applications or applicants not agreeing with the repayment terms to ensure the process handles these cases properly.

Finally, to test the timers, you should set them to a shorter duration, on the order of minutes, so that testing can be done quicker.

Appendix: Importing and Deploying the BOS Archive File

The completed process model, data definitions, and organizational definitions are also provided as a BOS archive file, the project export format of Bonita Studio. BOS archives can be easily imported into a new installation of Bonita.

After you have installed Bonita Community edition,

- Select "File" \rightarrow "Import" \rightarrow "BOS archive ..." from the menu
- Select the "LoanApplication.bos" archive file
- Press the "OK" button to begin the import

😣 🗉 Import BOS archive	
Import BOS archive	1.5
import .bos file (o.x and above) from another Bonita Studio	9
Select file	
/home/joerg/LoanApplication.bos	Browse
() Bos archive to import: LoanApplication.bos (7.9.0)	
Cancel	Import

After a little while and a number of import operations, Bonita Studio will report successful import:

😣 Import status	
Import successfully completed.	
BDM has been imported and deploy	oyed.
	Copy to clipboard OK

Note: Should Bonita warn of any conflicts during import, select to overwrite any existing files.

Next, you must deploy the Big Bank organization defined in this project to the workflow management server and provide a default user name for the Bonita Portal.

Select "Organization" \rightarrow "Deploy ..." from the menu

In the following dialog window:

- Select the "Big Bank" organization
- Enter "customer" for the default user name
- Press the "Deploy" button

😣 🗊 Deploy organization	
Select an organization to deploy	
Select an organization to deploy on the local portal as well as the default user logged	
Name 🔻	Description
ACME (active)	The ACME organization is an example of a typical hierarchy. It can
Big Bank	A bank that provides loans
Default username 🛚	
customer	
	Cancei Deploy

Bonita will acknowledge successful deployment of the organization:



You are now ready to run the process (see the above section on executing the process)